Alma Mater Studiorum · Università di Bologna

SCHOOL OF SCIENCE

Double Master Degree in Computer Science

QueerBench: Quantifying Discrimination in Language Models towards Queer Identities

Supervisor: Alberto Barrón-Cedeño Co-supervisor: Beatrice Spallaccia Presented by: Mae Sosto

Academic Year 2022/2023 II Session

Abstract

This thesis explores the evolving landscape of Natural Language Processing (NLP) and its intersection with societal biases, focusing on the LGBTQIA+ community. With the rise of computers in language comprehension, interpretation, and generation, NLP has become integral to various applications, posing challenges related to bias and stereotype perpetuation. As technology advances, there is a parallel emphasis on fostering inclusivity, particularly in digital spaces critical for the safety of LGBTQIA+ individuals.

Acknowledging the transformative influence of language on identity, this research underscores NLP's role in countering hate speech and bias online. Despite existing studies on sexism and misogyny, issues like homophobia and transphobia remain underexplored, often adopting binary perspectives. This behaviour not only marginalizes gender-diverse individuals but also perpetuates harmful behaviors.

The primary focus of this study is to assess the potential harm caused by sentence completions generated by large language models (LLMs) concerning LGBTQIA+ individuals. Employing a template-based approach, the investigation centres on the Masked Language Modelling (MLM) task and categorizes subjects into queer and non-queer terms, as well as neo-pronouns, neutral pronouns, and binary pronouns. The analysis reveals similarities in the assessment of pronouns by LLMs, with harmfulness rates around 6.1% for binary pronouns and approximately 5.4% and 4.9% for neo- and neutral pronouns. Sentences with queer terms (words that refer to a queer identity) as subjects peak at 16.4% harmfulness, surpassing non-queer subjects by 7.4%. This research contributes valuable insights into mitigating harm in language model outputs and promoting equitable language processing for the queer community.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1			
	1.1	Contributions	3			
	1.2	Thesis structure	5			
2	Bac	ackground				
	2.1	Queer community \ldots	8			
		2.1.1 Identities \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	9			
		2.1.2 Challenges Faced by the community	12			
	2.2	Hate speech and harmful language	14			
		2.2.1 Addressing Hate Speech Against the Queer Community	15			
	2.3	Deep Learning	17			
		2.3.1 Activation Functions	20			
		2.3.2 Loss Functions	22			
		2.3.3 Gradient descent $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	24			
		2.3.4 Backpropagation	25			
	2.4	Transformers	27			
		2.4.1 Encorder	29			
		$2.4.2 \text{Decoder} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	34			
	2.5	Models	36			
3	Rela	ated Work 3	39			
	3.1	LGBTQ+ Community and LLMs	39			
	3.2	Hate Speech Detection and Queer-Phobia	11			

CONTENTS

4	Que	eerBench's Architecture	45
	4.1	Task	45
	4.2	Dataset	48
		4.2.1 Neutral Sentences	49
		4.2.2 Subjects \ldots	49
	4.3	Assessment Metrics	52
		4.3.1 AFINN	53
		4.3.2 HurtLex	55
		4.3.3 Perspective API	56
		4.3.4 Scores	57
5	Exp	periments	61
	5.1	Pronouns	61
		5.1.1 AFINN	62
		5.1.2 HurtLex \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	65
		5.1.3 Perspective API	67
		5.1.4 Intermediate results	70
	5.2	Terms	72
		5.2.1 AFINN	72
		5.2.2 HurtLex \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	74
		5.2.3 Perspective API	77
		5.2.4 Intermediate results	79
	5.3	QueerBench	81
6	Cor	nclusions	85
	6.1	Discussion	85
	6.2	Mitigation	87
	6.3	Future Works	90

List of Figures

2.1	Deep learning structure	18
2.2	Percepron structure	19
2.3	Activation function's graph	21
2.4	Transformer model architecture	28
2.5	Attention mechanism architectures	32
4.1	QueerBench's workflow	46
4.2	Masked Language Modelling task	48
4.3	Perspective API example	56
5.1	AFINN test on BERT models with pronouns as subjects	62
5.2	AFINN test on all models with pronouns as subjects	64
5.3	HurtLex test on RoBERTa models with pronouns as subjects.	65
5.4	HurtLex test on all models with pronouns as subjects	66
5.5	Perspective test on ALBERT models with pronouns as subjects.	68
5.6	Perspective test on all models with pronouns as subjects	69
5.7	Intermediate results on all models with pronouns as subjects	71
5.8	AFINN test on RoBERTa models with terms as subjects	73
5.9	AFINN test on all models with terms as subjects	74
5.10	HurtLex test on BERT models with terms as subjects	75
5.11	HurtLex test on all models with terms as subjects	76
5.12	Perspective test on ALBERT models with pronouns as subjects.	77
5.13	Perspective test on all models with pronouns as subjects	78
5.14	Intermediate results on all models with terms as subjects	80

List of Tables

2.1	Language models	37
4.1	Pronouns	52
4.2	HurtLex's categories	54
4.3	QueerBench summary score table	60
5.1	QueerBench score on each model	82

Chapter 1

Introduction

How do you say "non-binary" in Italian?
The term "non-binary" can be translated to Italian as "non binario" or "non binaria" depending on the gender of the person.

- Random curious user talking to ChatGPT

Trigger Warning: This paper includes explicit statements that involve homophobia, transphobia, and stereotypes, which could be distressing to some readers. Reader discretion is advised when engaging with this content. Additionally, please note that the following text aims to discuss and analyze these issues, intending to foster awareness and understanding.

In recent years, the increasing prominence of computers in comprehending (Rogers et al. (2023)), interpreting (Wazalwar and Shrawankar (2017)), and generating human language (Ghosh and Gunning (2019)) has underscored the growing importance of Natural Language Processing (NLP). This field of study delves into how machines can effectively navigate and manipulate natural language, enabling applications ranging from virtual assistants (Sri and Sri (2021)) to automated language translation (Macklovitch (2001)). A significant challenge arises as NLP models, typically trained on extensive real-

world text corpora (Hinnefeld et al. (2018)), often inadvertently perpetuate societal biases, reflecting stereotypes ingrained in the data (McConnell et al. (2017); Wright and Wachs (2021)).

In tandem with the advancements in NLP technologies, there is a parallel push towards fostering a more equitable and inclusive digital environment (Ngwacho (2022); Emilia and Gaggiolib (2017)). This is particularly crucial for ensuring the safety and respectful treatment of individuals within the LGBTQIA+ community. Online spaces should be platforms where people feel secure, correctly addressed, and shielded from hate speech (Adkins et al. (2018); Han et al. (2019)).

Recognizing the transformative power of language, it is essential to acknowledge that language can either affirm or negate an individual's identity (Zimman (2017)). Consequently, NLP has emerged as a pivotal area of research dedicated to countering online hate speech, bias, stereotype propagation, and the detection of harmful and toxic language (Chaudhary et al. (2021)). Unfortunately, while some studies on hate speech targeting gender and sexuality, such as those on sexism (e.g. Kirk et al. (2023); Gambäck and Sikdar (2017)) and misogyny (e.g. Attanasio et al. (2022b); Guest et al. (2021); Safi Samghabadi et al. (2020)), are relatively well-explored, others such as homophobia and transphobia, remain under-researched (Nozza et al. (2022b)). Additionally, these studies often adopt a binary orientation, perpetuating heteronormative and cisnormative views (Cao and Daumé III (2019)). This not only contributes to the invisibility and marginalization of people who identify as trans^{*1}, non-binary, genderqueer, or gender-diverse but also perpetuates hateful behaviours such as homophobia and transphobia (Chakravarthi et al. (2021); Carvalho et al. (2022); Nozza et al. (2022a)).

This study aims to assess the potential harm caused by sentence completions generated by large language models (LLMs) in relation to LGBTQIA+

¹Is used as an inclusive term meant to encompass not only "transgender" individuals but also other identities that fall under the transgender umbrella, such as "transsexual", "genderqueer", and "genderfluid". The asterisk (*) is intended to be a wildcard that includes a spectrum of gender identities beyond just "transgender".

individuals. This investigation involves employing a template-based approach to assess the impact of language model sentence completions on the LGBTQIA+ community, focusing on the Masked Language Modelling (MLM) task. Additionally, the study seeks to determine how these predictions may reflect or perpetuate societal biases. The subjects of the assessed sentences are categorized into terms and pronouns, where terms can be either "queer" or "non-queer", and pronouns are categorized into "neo-pronouns", "neutral pronouns", or "binary pronouns".

The analysis reveals that the LLMs examined in the tests tend to assess the three types of pronouns similarly. Sentences with a binary pronoun as the subject have a harmful score of 6.1%, followed by those with neo- and neutral pronouns as subjects, with scores of 5.4% and 4.9%, respectively. Furthermore, sentences with a queer term as the subject peak at 16.4% harmfulness, generally proving 7.4% more harmful than sentences with non-queer subjects.

1.1 Contributions

In this study, we aim to fill a critical research gap by addressing the following key questions:

Q1: Can we create new resources that can be used to identify hate speech towards LGBTQIA individuals?

Q2: Is it possible to assess biases, toxicity, and harmfulness present in LLMs concerning the language and terminologies used within the LGBTQIA+ community?

Q3: Do LLMs tend to exhibit discriminatory behaviour towards individuals belonging to the LGBTQIA community?

In order to answer these research questions, in this work we present the following three macro contributions:

C1: We contribute a novel lexicon enclosing pronouns and terms related to LGBTQIA+ identities, covering gender identity, sexual and romantic orientation/attraction, higher-level categories, and umbrella phrases. Pronoun categories include neo-pronouns, gender-neutral, and binary pronouns. Additionally, we introduce a template-based assessment methodology based on the neutral sentence dataset from Nozza et al. (2022b). This methodology is employed to assess the toxicity and harmfulness of LLMs in an MLM task. The dataset comprises 8268 meaningful sentences, combining neutral statements with LGBTQIA+-related content as inputs for LLMs.

C2: We use the provided resources to tackle the task of assessing potential harm arising from sentence completions generated by language models (LMs) concerning LGBTQIA+ individuals. Each sentence from the dataset serves as input for multiple language models, including BERT, ALBERT, RoBERTa, and BERTweet, in an MLM task. We examine both the "base" and "large" versions for each model. In our testing process, we conduct two rounds. In the initial round, we extract the top-1 most likely word completion from the language models, resulting in a single-word prediction that best fits the "blank spaces" represented by [MASK]. Subsequently, in the second round, we broaden our assessment by retrieving the top 5 most probable words. To assess these predicted words, we employ three distinct techniques. We use AFINN and HurtLex tools to assess the model's predictions at the word level, focusing on individual predicted words. Additionally, we employ Perspective API to assess predictions at the sentence level, considering the entire sentence containing the predicted word.

C3: Utilizing scores obtained from AFINN, HurtLex, and Perspective API, we introduce the QueerBench score. This composite score allows the assessment of overall harmfulness in model predictions. Calculated by averaging scores with equal weight, the resulting score ranges from 0 to 100. A higher score indicates a more harmful prediction, reflecting increased potential harm to the LGBTQIA+ community.

All the materials are available in the GitHub repository².

1.2 Thesis structure

This thesis is articulated in the following chapters:

Chapter 2 delves into the language used within the LGBTQIA+ community, its representation in the domain of language models, and the challenges confronted by the community. The chapter proceeds to give an overview of deep learning, elucidates the design of the Transformer—a model pivotal for natural language processing tasks— and provides details about the language models employed in the study, thereby setting the stage for subsequent testing and evaluation.

The goal of Chapter 3 is to provide a comprehensive understanding of the current state of knowledge of existing research related to hate speech and fairness issues in the field of NLP, specifically in the context of the LGBTQIA+ community. The discussion encompasses two main parts. The first part delves into research pertaining to the queer community, with a particular emphasis on analyzing pronoun usage within language models. The second part investigates various studies that focus on the detection of hate speech and harmful content within language models.

Chapter 4 serves as an depth exploration of the QueerBench project, aiming to provide readers with a comprehensive understanding of its structure and key components. It covers the QueerBench framework, detailing the flow and phases of the project. Furthermore, it introduces the tools used to assess test results and explains the process for calculating assessment scores, both for individual tests and for the overarching QueerBench evaluation.

Chapter 5 delves into the analysis of data collected during the conducted tests. It aims to enhance the clarity of our findings through a comprehensive examination of two distinct aspects: sentences featuring pronouns as subjects and sentences where terms serve as subjects. The analysis categorizes

²https://github.com/MaeSosto/QueerBench

results based on evaluation tests, providing sample outcomes for each test in both cases. Additionally, the chapter presents the QueerBench scores for each model resulting from the research, facilitating a holistic view of model performance.

Finally, in Chapter 6, the focus is on understanding and analyzing the results obtained from QueerBench exploring the possible reasons behind these results and gaining insights. Additionally, the chapter looks into strategies for mitigating biases in LLMs and identifies areas for improvement within this study. It concludes by discussing broader enhancements that could be implemented in the field.

Chapter 2

Background

This chapter delves into the language employed within the LGBTQIA+ community. In Section 2.1, we categorize this terminology into distinct groups based on sexual and romantic orientation, gender identity, gender expression, and pronoun usage.

Section 2.2 explores the intricate ways in which language models depict prejudice, discriminatory language usage, and the multifaceted challenges faced by LGBTQIA+ individuals across various linguistic and social contexts.

In Section 2.3, we provide an overview of deep learning. We start with the fundamental concept of the perceptron, which illustrates how a single artificial neuron makes decisions, and gradually peel away layers of complexity to offer insights into how neural networks operate. This includes understanding the flow of information through hidden layers and the techniques involved in model training.

Section 2.4 sheds light on the design of the Transformer. It reveals the encoder-decoder structure that allows the model to capture correlations between sequences, rendering it particularly valuable for various natural language processing tasks. The discussion delves into the inner workings of the Transformer, addressing attention mechanisms, positional encodings, and self-attention mechanisms.

Lastly, in Section 2.5, we provide a detailed explanation of the language

models utilized in our tests, outlining their parameters and highlighting the distinctions between them.

2.1 Queer community

The term LGBT+ is an acronym that stands for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, with the "+" signifying the inclusion of other diverse orientations and identities. The term can also be extended to include LGBTQIA+ (which encompasses "queer", "intersex", and "asexual"/"aromantic"). This acronym represents a diverse group of individuals who share common aspects related to sexual orientation, gender identity, and practices related to gender and sexuality Caruso (2022). It is commonly used as an inclusive term to refer to individuals and communities that do not conform to traditional heterosexual and cisgender norms. In this study, we have categorized LGBTQIA+ membership into various groups, such as sexual or romantic orientation, gender identity¹, and/or gender expression² and pronoun usage, for the sake of simplicity.

A parallel term "queer" has a complex history, it is originally used to describe something "eccentric", "unconventional", or "different", and it later became associated with homosexuality and was often used derogatorily in a blatantly homophobic context Borba (2015). To challenge the dominant homosexual identity, some social movements embraced the term "queer" as a self-identifier as a form of political activism. However, this adoption of the term involved reclaiming it from its insulting origins, effectively reshaping its original meaning.

In this paper, we employ both the term "queer" and "LGBTQIA+" to reflect the evolving discourse surrounding diverse gender and sexual identities. This terminology shift underscores the significance of diversity and

¹a person's deeply held perception of their own gender, which may or may not correspond with the sex assigned to them at birth.

²how a person presents their gender to others through their clothing, behaviour, and appearance.

challenges normative systems, often reflected in the NLP field and its algorithms ((Devinney et al., 2022; Cao and Daumé III, 2019)). The dual nomenclature for this community is intended to facilitate readers in locating relevant content.

2.1.1 Identities

To gain a clearer comprehension of the choices and terminology employed in this study, it is crucial to emphasize certain fundamental principles.

Sexual orientation and romantic orientation

Sexual and romantic orientation are closely connected yet distinct aspects of an individual's identity, concerning their emotional and sexual attractions. It's essential to acknowledge that, although sexual and romantic orientations frequently align for many individuals (for instance, a heterosexual person may also be heteroromantic³), they can vary for others. As an example, one may be homosexual (attracted to the same gender) but aromantic⁴, or conversely.

Gender

In traditional western culture, gender and the sex assigned at birth⁵ are considered intrinsically connected and are frequently confused with each other(Prince (2005); Keyes (2018)). This perspective sees gender as a binary concept, limited to "man" or "woman", unchangeable, and rooted in externally visible physical characteristics.

³referring to a romantic orientation where a person experiences romantic attraction to those of the opposite gender.

⁴a term describing a romantic orientation in which a person experiences little to no romantic attraction to others or a lack of interest in forming romantic connections.

⁵it is the assignment of the category "male" or "female" based on an individual's primary and secondary sexual characteristics (such as chromosomes and external sexual organs, etc..) at birth.

2. Background

On the contrary, Judith Butler, in their work "Gender Trouble" (Butler (1990)), offers a contrasting viewpoint. They posits that gender is a performative and fluid concept, not a fixed or innate quality. Butler contends that people actively express and enact their gender through their daily behaviours and actions. They challenges the notion that gender is biologically or physically predetermined, emphasizing its status as a social construct shaped by common practices, societal expectations, and cultural norms. Additionally, Butler advocates for a broader understanding of gender, beyond the rigid binary, acknowledging the diverse range of gender identities that exist.

Furthermore, the existence of intersex individuals demonstrates that the traditional binary understanding of "sex" is inadequate (Fausto-Sterling (2000)). What is considered "sex" cannot be limited to binary classification, and it is reduced to the result of clinical analysis within a system that deems only what fits the strict parameters of binary classification as "acceptable" and "normal". Additionally, the presence of transgender and non-binary individuals highlights that gender is neither fixed nor binary.

Moreover, various native and/or non-Western cultures, which have experienced Western colonization throughout history, have recognized a spectrum of gender identities or more than two genders For example, the Bugis people of Indonesia identify five genders (Davies (2007)), the Hijra community in South Asia is acknowledged as a distinct gender category (Hossain (2017)), and Native American cultures recognize Two-Spirit individuals who embody both masculine and feminine qualities and fulfill unique gender roles within their communities (Jacobs et al. (1997)), and others (Young (1998); Poasa (1992)). While some countries legally recognize only a binary understanding of gender (female or male) (EqualDex (2023)), an increasing number of countries, like Canada, are acknowledging the complexity of gender as a concept introducing three options for the "sex": "F" for female, "M" for male and "X" for another gender (Canada (2023); EqualDex (2023)).

Pronouns

Pronouns play a vital role in many languages and are often among the most frequently used word categories. Language usage is an integral aspect of expressing one's gender identity. For instance, introducing oneself with a preferred name and pronouns contributes to how one's gender expression is perceived (Devinney et al. (2022)). In an increasingly diverse and evolving understanding of gender (as discussed in Paragraph 2.1.1), traditional third-person pronouns that strictly adhere to a binary framework, distinguishing between only female and male, are surely inadequate (Hossain et al. (2023)). Hence, it is necessary to broaden pronoun usage, incorporating neo pronouns such as the singular they, thon, ze, etc (Vance Jr et al. (2014); Markman (2011)).

The use of the generic singular "they" in the English language (e.g. "Who was at the door? They left a note") has gained traction, particularly among non-binary individuals seeking a gender-neutral pronoun option (Conrod (2019); Konnelly and Cowper (2020)). This increased usage has been supported by dictionaries and style manuals, contributing to institutional recognition (Lauscher et al. (2022)).

In addition to the singular "they", individuals have also created and promoted various sets of third-person pronouns (McGaughey (2020)). Some of the more commonly recognized neopronouns include the Spivak pronouns (e/emself), as found in Spivak (1990) and related variations.

During our research, we identified several subcategories of neopronouns that are not extensively covered in academic literature (Lauscher et al. (2022)). While these pronoun sets can encompass all five pronoun forms (e.g., they/ them/ their/btheirs/ themself), pronoun declarations often feature at least two pronoun forms, such as the accusative and nominative forms (e.g., they/them, she/her).

2.1.2 Challenges Faced by the community

Language practices can become discriminatory when they align with normative and stereotypical gender representations. The concept of "androcentric normativity"⁶ positions women and other genders (except for men) as outliers and elevates masculinity as the universal benchmark for the human experience (Knapp et al. (2007)). This perspective can perpetuate heteronormative and cisnormative views, leading to discrimination against individuals who do not conform to these norms. Consequently, under binary gender linguistic frameworks, non-binary individuals and those with diverse gender experiences are left unrepresented. This exclusionary language can contribute to feelings of invisibility and marginalization among those who identify as non-binary, genderqueer, or gender-diverse.

It is crucial to recognize that language has the power to either validate or invalidate individuals' gender identities (Zimman (2017)). This discrimination and exclusion are also evident in language models since they learn from online text corpora (Hinnefeld et al. (2018)). Moreover, these materials often contain offensive statements, including racism, homophobia⁷, transphobia⁸, and sexism. These texts may also include threats and insults directed at specific individuals (Zampieri et al. (2019)). Many members of the LGBTQIA+ community use social media to connect with others and share their stories, especially in countries where being part of the community can be extremely dangerous (Adkins et al. (2018); Han et al. (2019)). Unfortunately, those seeking refuge in the online queer community are equally susceptible to homophobic or transphobic abuse. As a result, individuals seeking support online often experience harassment and abuse, causing significant harm (Mc-Connell et al. (2017); Wright and Wachs (2021)).

The use of gendered pronouns and nouns does not always align with our

⁶defined as the tendency to centre society around men, their needs, priorities, and values while relegating women to the periphery (Bailey et al. (2019).

⁷prejudice, bias, or discrimination against lesbian, gay, or bisexual individuals.

⁸prejudice, bias, or discrimination against transgender and gender-diverse individuals.

2. Background

physical attributes or how we choose to express our gender (aspects of gender expression). For example, one might assume that "beard" and "bikini" are associated with male and female nouns, respectively. While there may be a statistical correlation between beards and masculine nouns and the common association of beards with the male presentation, a person's facial hair should not serve as a definitive gender indicator. Such assumptions erase the perspectives of cisgender women with facial hair, trans* individuals, and gender non-conforming people (Kaneko and Bollegala (2019); Devinney et al. (2022); Dev et al. (2021)). An important issue related to this is misgendering, which occurs when individuals are referred to using language, including pronouns, that does not align with their gender identity (Dev et al. (2021)). In order to avoid misgendering, queer-friendly environments encourage everyone to declare the pronouns they prefer to be used when referring to them (National Institutes of Health (2020)).

In addition to the points discussed above, it's essential to acknowledge that trans^{*} and gender-diverse individuals historically experience a higher prevalence of mental health disorders compared to cisgender individuals (Tan et al. (2019)). This phenomenon is known as "minority stress", referring to stressors inherent to the social position of sexual minorities that contribute to health-related conditions, such as mental disorders, psychological distress, physical health issues, risky behaviours (e.g., condom use and smoking), and overall well-being (Meyer and Frost (2013)). Furthermore, it's important to consider how gender and sexuality intersect with other factors like race, social class, and (dis)ability, as this intersection can also impact individuals' experiences and well-being (Crenshaw (1995); Intersectionality (2011); Dev et al. (2021)). This intersectionality can result in variations in discrimination or exacerbate its effects when these factors overlap.

2.2 Hate speech and harmful language

Any statement that demeans an individual or a group based on characteristics such as race, colour, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, nationality, religion, physical and mental condition or other traits is commonly referred to as hate speech (Nockleby et al. (2000)). Due to the general occurrence of hate speech on the internet and its harmful consequences, the identification of hate speech has emerged as a pressing issue that falls within the field of natural language processing (Del Arco et al. (2023)). This necessity arises from the limitations of basic word filters in effectively combating this problem (Schmidt and Wiegand (2017)). Furthermore, the existing datasets for hate speech are often noisy and sparse, lacking a clear, human-annotated lexicon that definitively identifies hate speech (Anand and Eswari (2019)). It's important to acknowledge that the challenge of detecting hate speech is based on its subjective and context-dependent nature. Hate speech is influenced by a range of factors, including socioeconomic status, cultural background, and societal norms (Waseem and Hovy (2016)). Consequently, hate speech discussions may not accurately represent public sentiment, yet they can contribute to the dehumanization of individuals, often from minority groups (Soral et al. (2018); Martin et al. (2013)). This, in turn, has the potential to escalate into hate crimes (Ross et al. (2017); Ousidhoum et al. (2019)).

Some forms of harm can be subtle, making them not immediately apparent. For instance, when adjectives are inappropriately used as if they were nouns, it can lead to unintentional harm. For example, referring to someone as "the transgender" reduces their unique humanity, reducing them solely to their transgender identity. We firmly believe in the importance of showing respect to every individual and acknowledging their inherent humanity. Therefore, we advocate referring to a transgender person as "The transgender person" to mitigate any degrading effects. By emphasizing that each person is more than just their gender identity, our approach to testing ensures that identities are presented within a context that affirms and respects an individual's humanity.

Types of Harm

Weidinger et al. (2022) provided a taxonomy for the potential harm that LMs may produce, which we briefly summarise below.

- Stereotyping and discrimination: arise when generated language perpetuates negative stereotypes and upholds biases against underrepresented groups and intersectional identities (Bender et al. (2021); Crenshaw (2017)).
- Toxicity pertains to the use of language that is offensive, threatening, violent, or otherwise harmful, as documented by several studies (Gehman et al. (2020); Rae et al. (2021); Abid et al. (2021)). It can manifest in various ways, spanning from overtly toxic content, such as violent hate speech, to subtler and concealed forms of toxicity, like microaggressions, as highlighted in the work of Breitfeller et al. (2019).
- Exclusion pertains to the varying performance of different models in various language contexts. Models might struggle to understand or generate "non-standard" dialects and sociolects, effectively excluding speakers of these variants from their user base (see Joshi et al. (2020); Koenecke et al. (2020); Winata et al. (2021)).

2.2.1 Addressing Hate Speech Against the Queer Community

The internet remains a hostile environment for queer individuals, despite the progress made in LGBTQIA+ rights. Real-world incidents of hate crimes are also increasing in terms of frequency, severity, and complexity (Nozza et al. (2022c)). Over the last three years, there has been a significant surge in anti-LGBTQIA+ hate crimes, as reported by The Guardian World ⁹.

 $^{^{9}\}rm https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/dec/03/recorded-homophobic-hate-crimes-soared-in-pandemic-figures-show$

2. Background

A report on online hate crimes related to homophobia, biphobia, and transphobia was published in 2021 by the LGBTQIA+ anti-violence organization Galop in the UK¹⁰. They conducted a study involving 700 queer participants recruited from online activist communities. The findings are alarming: over the past five years, eight out of ten people encountered hate speech online, and one in five experienced online harassment at least 100 times. Trans^{*} individuals are more frequently affected by online harassment compared to cisgender individuals (93% vs. 70%, respectively). Additionally, it's concerning that 18% of respondents reported a connection between online abuse and offline incidents. These statistics paint a troubling picture of the daily challenges faced by queer individuals.

The identification of hate speech, as highlighted by Del Arco et al. (2023), faces two primary challenges: the scarcity of labelled data and the wide variation of hate speech across situations and languages. The lack of annotated data specific to LGBTQIA+ individuals and the biases in NLP models (Chakravarthi et al. (2021); Carvalho et al. (2022); Nozza et al. (2022b)) make research in this area even more intimidating. Furthermore, research by Caselli et al. (2018) demonstrates that hate speech detection models do not generalize well to different types of hate speech targets.

The introduction of a unique dataset in the Homophobia and Transphobia Detection task (Chakravarthi et al. (2022)) has empowered researchers to explore potential solutions for this problem. Works such as those by Maimaitituoheti (2022) and Bhandari and Goyal (2022) have predominantly focused on English and Tamil languages. However, recent studies by Vásquez et al. (2023) and Locatelli et al. (2023) indicate a recent expansion of research efforts beyond these languages.

Contemporary studies, including those conducted by Hossain et al. (2023) and Lauscher et al. (2022), have highlighted the persistent challenges faced by natural language models in correctly understanding and using gender pronouns such as singular they¹¹ (Bjorkman (2017)) and neo pronouns like

¹⁰https://www.report-it.org.uk/files/online-crime-2020_0.pdf

¹¹is a gender-neutral pronoun used to refer to an individual whose gender is unknown,

"xe/xem", "ze/zir", or "fae/faer". Additionally, a review by Devinney et al. (2022) and Cao and Daumé III (2019) of approximately 150 papers on gender bias in NLP and coreference resolution revealed that many of these studies did not explicitly address gender-related issues. Only a few of them considered intersectionality or inclusion, particularly concerning non-binary genders and most of them barely defined or discussed what gender is.

While assessing misgendering is a critical initial step, it is equally important to move beyond assessment and focus on developing solutions. Gender misrepresentation can be present in both human-written and modelgenerated content, especially concerning non-binary and trans^{*} individuals. Therefore, increased efforts are necessary to identify misgendering and implement preventive measures. Those most affected by misgendering, such as non-binary and trans^{*} individuals, should play a central role in shaping the direction of research on these issues (Hossain et al. (2023)).

2.3 Deep Learning

Deep learning falls under the umbrella of machine learning, a broader field within artificial intelligence (AI) (Kelleher (2019)). At its core, an algorithm provides a systematic approach to analyze datasets and identify recurring patterns, particularly in the context of machine learning. Machine learning, in essence, is designed to get functions derived from data. Deep learning algorithms, on the other hand, specialize in extracting patterns from realworld data, representing them as neural networks.

Artificial neural networks (ANNs) serve as the foundation for constructing deep learning models due to their structural similarity to the human brain, featuring synapses connecting various neuron nodes (Goodfellow et al. (2016)). Deep learning leverages multiple layers of neurons to discern features from raw input data (Abedalla et al. (2021)). These layers consist of the input layer as the initial step and the output layer as the final stage, with

unspecified, or who prefers not to be identified with a binary pronoun.



Figure 2.1: Illustration of deep learning structure (Abedalla et al. (2021)).

any intervening layers collectively referred to as hidden layers.

The input layer receives the data for examination, which is subsequently passed on to the second layer for further processing. This process continues through subsequent layers until the final layer is reached. Each unit within the network takes in information from other units, processes it, and outputs the processed information. This type of neural network, where information flows one way, from input to output without loops or feedback connections, is known as a "feedforward neural network" (Marijanović et al. (2022)). A visual representation of a deep learning structure can be found in Figure 2.1.

The main goal of the network is to learn and identify specific associations between input and output patterns. This learning process entails adjusting the connection weights between units. The particular method used to estimate these parameters is determined by the learning process (Lawrence (1993)). In NLP, the data or text provided to a neural network for processing and analysis is referred to as the "input". It may include various elements such as the number of words in a sentence, the author's name, and other pertinent information (Croxford et al. (2020)).

Perceptron

Perceptrons, often referred to as nodes in a neural network, play a crucial role in neural network computations. A perceptron calculates a single output



Figure 2.2: Signal-flow graph of the perceptron.

from multiple real-valued inputs by forming a linear combination based on its input weights. It can also apply a nonlinear activation function to this output (Lappalainen and Honkela (2000)). Figure 2.2 illustrates the signal-flow of a perceptron¹².

In this context, \mathbf{x} represents the input vector with a dimensionality of n:

$$\mathbf{x} = [x_1, x_2, ..., x_n] \tag{2.1}$$

 \mathbf{w} denotes the vectors of weights of the same dimensionality:

$$\mathbf{w} = [w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n] \tag{2.2}$$

where b signifies the bias, an adjustable parameter associated with each neuron (or node) within a neural network.

The result obtained by adding b to the dot product of vectors \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{w} , denoted as $\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{w}$, is then passed as a parameter to a function φ . This function φ is commonly referred to as the "activation function" (Haykin, 1998; Bishop, 1995).

Mathematically the signal flow can be written as:

$$y = \varphi \Big(\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i x_i + b\Big) = \varphi \Big(\mathbf{w}^T \mathbf{x} + b\Big)$$
(2.3)

¹²Image credit: Antti Honkela, Source: https://users.ics.aalto.fi/ahonkela/dippa/node41.html

2.3.1 Activation Functions

Artificial Neural Networks employ activation functions to stimulate their neurons, facilitating faster convergence and the recognition of patterns within intricate input data (Gangadia (2021)). Among the various types of activation functions, some of the most commonly used include the sigmoid function, the hyperbolic tangent (tanh) function, and the rectified linear unit (ReLU) function (Karpathy (2017)).

Sigmoid Function (Logistic Activation)

denoted as $\sigma(x)$, is defined as:

$$\sigma(x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-x}}$$
(2.4)

This function is commonly used as an activation function due to its nonlinear nature. The sigmoid function scales input values to a range between 0 and 1. It's worth noting that the sigmoid function is asymmetric around zero, which means that all output values of neurons will share the same sign.

Hyperbolic Tangent Function (tanh)

is defined by the following equation:

$$\tanh(x) = \frac{e^x - e^{-x}}{e^x + e^{-x}}$$
(2.5)

Similar to the sigmoid function, the tanh function exhibits symmetry around the origin. This means that the outputs from previous layers, which serve as inputs for subsequent layers, will have varying signs. The values produced by the tanh function are confined within the range of -1 to 1, and it is both a continuous and differentiable function. Notably, the gradient of the tanh function is steeper compared to that of the sigmoid function. Tanh is often preferred over the sigmoid function because it is zero-centered and its gradients are not constrained to fluctuate in a particular direction (Sharma et al. (2017)).



Figure 2.3: Graph for the ReLU, sigmoid and tanh activation functions.

Rectified Linear Unit (ReLU)

is defined as:

$$ReLU(x) = \max(0, x) \tag{2.6}$$

Due to its simplicity and effectiveness, the deep learning community has widely adopted ReLU, an abbreviation for "Rectified Linear Unit", as the default activation function. One of the key advantages of using the ReLU function is that it doesn't activate every neuron simultaneously (Sharma et al. (2017)). This means a neuron remains active until the output of its linear transformation becomes zero. Because gradients can still propagate when the input to the ReLU function is positive, deep networks using ReLUs are generally easier to optimize compared to networks employing sigmoid or tanh units (Hahnloser et al. (2000)). Figure 2.3 shows the graph for the sigmoid, tahn and ReLU functions¹³.

Softmax function

is defined as:

$$softmax(x_i) = \frac{e^{x_i}}{\sum_{j=1}^N e^{x_j}}$$
(2.7)

where N is the total number of neurons in the output layer and x_i is the output of the i-th neuron.

 $^{^{13}\}mathrm{Image}$ obtained from https://datahacker.rs/007-machine-learning-activation-functions-in-neural-networks/

The softmax function finds its primary and most frequent application in the output layer of a neural network, especially in the context of multi-class classification problems. In multi-class classification, the goal is to categorize input data into one of several predetermined classes or groups. The softmax function takes the network's raw scores (logits) and transforms them into a probability distribution across all possible classes (Hu et al. (2018)).

2.3.2 Loss Functions

A loss function serves the purpose of quantifying the error, which is essentially the disparity between the target values found in the training data and the predicted values generated by the model. It plays a central role in guiding the optimization process during training by providing a single scalar value that gauges the model's performance on the given task (Logue (2023)). Depending on the specific task, different types of loss functions come into play. For multi-class classification scenarios, the Cross Entropy function is commonly employed, while Binary Cross Entropy is the choice for binary classification tasks. In contrast, mean absolute error (MAE) or mean squared error (MSE) are typically used for regression tasks.

Cross Entropy Loss (Log Loss)

is a commonly used loss function in neural networks. It finds frequent application in training neural networks for various purposes, including feature representation and classification. This loss function places particular emphasis on enhancing the distinction between different classes and is often used in conjunction with the softmax activation function (Logue (2023)).

For a single data point with n classes, the multi-class cross-entropy loss can be defined as:

$$CE_{Loss} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i \cdot \log \hat{y}_i \tag{2.8}$$

where n represents the number of classes, y_i represents the true class

label for class i (1 if it's the true class, and 0 otherwise), and \hat{y}_i denotes the predicted probability of class i. The summation spans across all classes. Similar to the binary case, this loss function penalizes the model when it assigns low probabilities to the true class (Mao et al. (2023)).

Binary Cross Entropy

(BCE) is employed for binary classification tasks with two exclusive classes, and it is regarded as a specific instance of cross entropy.

Its formula is as follows:

$$BCE = -\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \cdot \log(\hat{y}_i) + (1 - y_i) \cdot \log(1 - \hat{y}_i)$$
(2.9)

where N is the number of samples or instances, y_i is the actual label (ground truth) of the *i*-th sample (either 0 or 1) and \hat{y}_i is the predicted probability that the *i*-th sample belongs to class 1. When the model assigns a low probability to the correct class, the loss function penalizes the model more severely (Kumar (2020)).

Mean Squared Error (MSE)

is a valuable metric for regression problems. It's especially useful when the objective is to predict continuous numerical values because it quantifies the average squared difference between predicted and actual values (Kato and Hotta (2021)). MSE is defined as follows:

$$MSE = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_{e,i} - y_{p,i})^2$$
(2.10)

where N represents the total number of samples, $y_{e,i}$ is the expected output of the *i*-th sample, and $y_{p,i}$ is the predicted output of the *i*-th sample.

Mean Absolute Error (MAE)

In contrast to Mean Squared Error (MSE), which squares error values and disproportionately penalizes larger errors, thereby inflating the overall error metric, MAE treats all errors equally. In MAE, errors are not assigned different weights; instead, scores increase linearly as the number of errors grows. The MAE score is calculated by averaging the absolute error values, as detailed by Robeson and Willmott (2023). Its definition is as follows:

$$MAE = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |y_{e,i} - y_{p,i}|$$
(2.11)

where N, $y_{e,i}$, and $y_{p,i}$ are defined as in the MSE equation, meaning that $y_{e,i}$ is the expected output of the *i*-th sample, and $y_{p,i}$ is the predicted output of the *i*-th sample.

2.3.3 Gradient descent

During the training process, the model's parameters, including its weights and biases, go through iterative adjustments to minimize the loss function. Gradient descent, a widely used optimization technique, is employed for this purpose. It leverages the gradient of the loss function concerning the model parameters to update them. This process continues iteratively until a termination condition is met, progressively refining the model's output.

To optimize the weights of a neural network model, the technique assesses the gradient of the loss function in relation to the weights (Hao (2021); Boon et al. (2021)).

Gradient descent is a method used to minimize an objective function $J(\theta)$, which is characterized by the model's parameters $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^d$. This approach involves adjusting the parameters in the direction opposite to the gradient of the objective function $\nabla_{\theta} J(\theta)$ with respect to the parameters. The size of the steps taken toward a (local) minimum depends on the learning rate, denoted as η (Ruder (2016)).

The parameter update rule is commonly represented as:

$$\theta = \theta - \eta \cdot \nabla_{\theta} J(\theta) \tag{2.12}$$

Here, θ represents the set of weights and biases, η is the learning rate, and $J(\theta)$ represents the loss function.

When processing all training instances simultaneously in a large batch, as is the case in this scenario, optimization techniques that utilize the entire training set are commonly referred to as "batch" or deterministic gradient methods. However, there are several variations of Gradient Descent. For example, Stochastic Gradient Descent (SGD) operates by randomly selecting one individual example at a time (or a small batch of data points) in each iteration, as opposed to using the entire training dataset to compute the gradient. Mini-Batch Gradient Descent strikes a middle ground by neither using the complete dataset nor a single data point. It involves dividing the dataset into manageable chunks and computing the gradient while using each batch individually (Goodfellow et al. (2016)).

2.3.4 Backpropagation

Backpropagation serves as the foundation of neural network training. It's the process that refines a neural network's weights by considering the error rate, also referred to as the loss, from the previous iteration. Through effective weight adjustments, the aim is to minimize the error rates, consequently enhancing the model's versatility and reliability. The ultimate objective is to improve accuracy by reducing the disparity between predicted and actual values (Zaras et al. (2022)).

Backpropagation starts with the final loss value and systematically works backwards, traversing from the top layers to the bottom layers. In this process, it computes the gradient ηE of the loss function E concerning the weight array **w** (Francois (2018)).

The gradient descent method begins with the final loss value. It involves the computation of the partial derivative $\frac{\partial E}{\partial w_i}$ of the loss function concerning the weights $w_i \in \mathbf{w}$ (with $i \in [0, n]$), spanning the network's weights. This is because the gradient of the loss function essentially points in the direction where the error diminishes. The primary objective of the backpropagation algorithm is to minimize the loss, achieved by adjusting weights and biases based on the gradient of the error. In other words, it is necessary to weight and bias adjustments that lead to a reduction in the loss (Goodfellow et al. (2016)).

The gradient of the weighted sum with respect to activation is determined by the derivative of the activation function σ applied to the weighted sum, as shown in the following equation:

$$\frac{\partial w_i}{\partial a_i} = \frac{\partial}{a_i}(\sigma(w_i)) \tag{2.13}$$

where a_i represents the activation of neurons in the output layer. The specific form of this derivative depends on the choice of activation function σ .

The chain rule of differentiation is a fundamental concept used to calculate the gradient of the loss function E concerning the weights and biases. It can be expressed as:

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial w} = \frac{\partial E}{\partial y} \cdot \frac{\partial y}{\partial w}
= \frac{\partial E}{\partial y} \cdot \frac{\partial y}{\partial z} \cdot \frac{\partial z}{\partial w}$$
(2.14)

When it comes to the biases, the formula is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial b} = \frac{\partial E}{\partial y} \cdot \frac{\partial y}{\partial z} \cdot \frac{\partial z}{\partial b}$$
(2.15)

where w is a weight associated with a connection, b represents the single bias associated with a perceptron. w is a weight associated with a connection, y is the output of a neuron or a layer, which is the result of applying an activation function to the weighted sum of inputs and z is the weighted sum of inputs and biases before the activation function is applied.

To continue the backpropagation process, it's essential to calculate how these gradients impact the weighted sums in the preceding layers. This is achieved by repeatedly applying the chain rule, starting at the output layer and moving backwards through the network.

The weights and biases are then adjusted through an optimization process, such as gradient descent, in a way that minimizes the error according to the following equations:

$$w_{new} = w_{old} - \eta \frac{\partial E}{\partial w}$$

$$b_{new} = b_{old} - \eta \frac{\partial E}{\partial b}$$
(2.16)

where w_{new} and b_{new} represent the new weight and bias values after adjustment, w_{new} and b_{new} denote the old (current) weight and bias values before adjustment and η represents the learning rate.

Once the desired target accuracy is achieved (indicating that the error is sufficiently minimized) or when the predefined number of iterations is reached, the backpropagation process concludes (Siregar and Wanto (2017)). The parameter that defines how often the learning process is repeated is referred to as "epochs". In one epoch, the model processes and learns from all the training examples once (Buscema et al. (2018)).

2.4 Transformers

The Google team Vaswani et al. (2017) first presented the Transformer model architecture in 2017, and it has subsequently gained popularity for NLP jobs. Many different applications of natural language processing have made use of transformers. Examples include text production (Saunders et al. (2020)), automatic summarization (Hoang et al. (2019)), sentiment analysis (Naseem et al. (2020)), question answering (Devlin et al. (2018)) and machine translation (Liu et al. (2020)). It is a powerful model that substitutes selfattention mechanisms for recurrent neural networks and convolutional neural networks to capture long-range correlations in input sequences (Panopoulos et al. (2023)).

2. Background



Figure 2.4: Transformer model architecture.

Most competitive neural sequence transduction models have an encoderdecoder structure (Cho et al. (2014)). At each step, the model is autoregressive ¹⁴ (Graves (2013)), consuming the previously generated symbols as additional input when generating the next.

As illustrated in Figure 2.4, the transformer architecture consists of two main components: the encoder and the decoder. In the original transformer design (Vaswani et al. (2017)), both the encoder and decoder comprise a stack of N = 6 identical layers, placed in parallel.

¹⁴refers to a statistical procedure that uses past values of a variable to predict its future values (Clausner and Gentili (2022)).

You can use this architecture in different ways. For instance, the successful BERT model (Devlin et al. (2018)) exclusively employs the encoder component. In contrast, GPT-2 (Lagler et al. (2013)) and GPT-3 (Dale (2021)) are decoder-only models. Meanwhile, BART (Lewis et al. (2019)) follows an encoder-decoder structure.

It's worth noting that the number of layers in these models may vary. The original transformer has 6 layers, but other language models deviate from this. For example, GPT-2 utilizes 36 layers, and BERT incorporates 24 layers stacked on top of each other.

2.4.1 Encorder

The encoder consists of six layers, each containing two sublayers. The first sublayer employs a multi-head self-attention mechanism, which enables the model to identify dependencies and relationships within a sequence. The second sublayer is a straightforward, fully connected feed-forward network responsible for processing and transforming token representations (words or subwords) independently and based on their positions.

Embedding

In the input embedding phase (represented by the pink box in Figure 2.4), the encoder takes a sequence of symbol representations (x_1, \ldots, x_n) as input, such as a sentence, and tokenizes it. "Tokenize" here refers to converting the input sentence into tokens, mapping it to a sequence of continuous representations $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$. Each value z represents a token, and a single word can be split into one or multiple tokens. Tokens are represented as integers and unique IDs, signifying the position of these words in a vocabulary obtained from the training set. For example, when given the sentence "I am queer and proud" as input to BERT_{base}'s tokenizer, the token IDs obtained are [1045, 2572, 19483, 1998, 7098], with the word "queer" represented by the ID 19483. Each token ID is then transformed into a word embedding vector E of a fixed length d_{model} (the dimension depends on the model) that represents its semantic meaning:

$$E(ID) = [e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{d_{model}}]$$
(2.17)

where e_i represents the *i*-th element of the embedding vector. The input sentence is now represented by a total of d_{input} IDs, which in this case is $d_{input} = 5$. Since each word is represented by an embedding vector with a size of $d_{model} = 768$ (as in the BERT_base model), the input sentence can be represented as a matrix with dimensions $d_{input} \times d_{model}$, which, in the previous example, results in a 5 × 768 matrix of numbers.

The next step in the encoder scheme involves the positional encoding block.

Positional encoding

The positional encoding block employs a positional encoding vector to furnish the model with information regarding the order or position of tokens within a sequence. This positional encoding vector has a dimension of $d_{model} = 768$. It is computed only once for each sentence, both during training and inference, and it encodes the position of each word in the input sentence. The sine and cosine functions are utilized to compute the positional encoding (PE).

The positional encoding is calculated as follows:

$$PE(pos, 2i) = \sin\left(\frac{pos}{10000^{\frac{2i}{d_{model}}}}\right)$$

$$PE(pos, 2i+1) = \cos\left(\frac{pos}{10000^{\frac{2i}{d_{model}}}}\right)$$
(2.18)

where pos represents the position in the sentence, and i corresponds to the index of the embedding vector for each word. For even dimensions, the first formula uses the sine function, while for odd dimensions, the formula utilizes the cosine function.
The next block (represented by the colour orange in Figure 2.4) is the multi-head attention. However, it's important to first delve into self-attention before delving into the intricacies of multi-head attention.

Self-attention also known as Scaled Dot-Product Attention, is a mechanism designed to capture long-range dependencies within sequences. It accomplishes this by learning representations that model global interactions (Utkin et al. (2023)). This capability is achieved through input embeddings that capture the meaning of words and positional encoding that captures the words' positions within sentences. It's referred to as "self-attention" because it considers each word in a sentence in relation to every other word within that same sentence. The attention formula is as follows:

$$Attention(Q, K, V) = softmax\left(\frac{QK^{T}}{\sqrt{d_{k}}}\right)$$
(2.19)

In this equation, the matrices Q, K, and V represent the projected "queries", "keys", and "value" tokens of input features (Lovisotto et al. (2022)). These matrices are derived from the input embeddings of the tokens and are used for the following purposes:

- 1. Determining which parts of the input sequence to focus on.
- 2. Calculating the similarity between the queries (Q) and keys (K) for each pair of tokens.
- 3. Computing the actual information that the model extracts from the input tokens accordingly.

Figure 2.5b illustrates the self-attention mechanism. In this mechanism, the input sentence embeddings are represented in the Q matrix, which has dimensions of $d_{input} \times d_{model}$ (considering the previous example, 5×768). This matrix is multiplied by a similar matrix called K, but with transposed dimensions, divided by the square root of 768, and then the softmax function is applied. The attention matrix is subsequently obtained by multiplying the



(a) Scaled Dot-Product Attention

(b) Multi-Head Attention

Figure 2.5: Attention mechanism architectures

resulting matrix by the matrix V. Each row of the attention matrix provides insights into the relationship between each word and its neighbours, alongside the meaning (captured by the embeddings) and the word's position within the phrase, as represented by positional encodings.

Multi-Head Attention

The primary objective of the multi-head attention module is to enable the model to focus on multiple segments within the input sequence as shown in Figure 2.4. Following the positional encoding phase on the encoder side, the input is duplicated into four identical copies. One copy is directed into the "Add & Norm" (yellow block in Figure 2.4), while the remaining three copies enter the "Multi-Head Attention" (orange block in Figure 2.4)k. In this explanation, we'll primarily concentrate on the latter process, as illustrated in Figure 2.5.

Within this process, three input matrices, denoted as Q, K, and V, share identical dimensions of $d_{input} \times d_{model}$. These matrices are each multiplied by three corresponding parameter matrices, namely W^q , W^k , and W^v , which are of size $d_{model} \times d_{model}$. Subsequently, the resulting matrices are split into h smaller matrices, designated as QW_i^Q , KW_i^K , and VW_i^W , where $i \in [0, ..., h]$, and $h = \frac{d_{model}}{d_{input}}$. These smaller matrices, referred to as "heads", are then concatenated into the matrix H and multiplied by W^o , yielding the Multi-Head Attention matrix, as depicted below:

$$MultiHead(Q, K, V) = Concat(head_i, ..., head_h)W^o$$

$$head_i = Attention(QW_i^Q, KW_i^K, VW_i^W)$$

(2.20)

The output of the multi-head attention operation is the end result of this process, which can be employed as input for subsequent layers in the Transformer architecture. This method enables the model to effectively capture both local and global dependencies while directing its focus to various elements within the input sequence.

Moving on to the next step in the encoder mechanism, there is the "Add & Norm" block, responsible for layer normalization.

Layer normalization

Layer normalization is a technique employed to standardize the inputs of a neural network layer, enhancing the performance and convergence of deep neural networks (Liu et al. (2021)). Layer normalization computes the mean μ and standard deviation σ of activations across the feature dimension, or across the neurons within a layer, for each example j in a batch within a specific layer of a neural network, using the following formula:

$$\hat{x}_j = \frac{x_j - \mu_j}{\sqrt{\sigma_j^2 + \epsilon}} \tag{2.21}$$

Following normalization, the activations are adjusted using learnable parameters. These parameters, typically represented as scaling factor γ and bias term β , are applied element-wise to the normalized activations. By learning these scale and shift parameters during training, the model can adapt to the unique characteristics of the data. The core concept behind layer

normalization is to individually normalize each neuron's activations across the batch dimension. In deep networks, this prevents issues where activations become excessively small (vanishing gradients) or too large (exploding gradients) during training.

2.4.2 Decoder

In addition to the existing six layers, the decoder incorporates a third sub-layer for each encoder layer, alongside the two already present. This addition enables the execution of multi-head attention over the output from the encoder stack. When provided with the input, denoted as z, the decoder proceeds to generate an output sequence y_1, \ldots, y_m symbol by symbol. The decoder is depicted on the right side of Figure 2.4. Components like "Output embeddings" and "Positional encoding" function similarly to their counterparts in the encoder. However, the "Multi-Head Attention block" differs slightly because it now necessitates cross-attention instead of self-attention. This change is because it takes two inputs (matrices Keys and Values) from the encoder's output, while the matrix Query is obtained from the Positional encoding block.

Masked Multi-Head Attention

The multi-head attention mechanism has an alternative known as Masked Multi-Head Attention. This approach is particularly valuable for tasks like language modelling and autoregressive generation, where causality plays a crucial role. It introduces a masking mechanism to ensure that during training, the self-attention mechanism doesn't consider future positions in a sequence.

In typical multi-head attention, all points in the input sequence are considered when calculating attention scores. However, in this context, the goal is to create a causal model, meaning that the output at a given position should only depend on preceding words. This ensures that the model doesn't have access to information from future words. To achieve this, before applying the softmax in the attention mechanism, all values above the diagonal of the resulting matrix are set to $-\infty$. This modification makes the model suitable for tasks that require sequential generation with causal dependencies, as it restricts the model's attention to the previous context.

The output of the multi-head attention is then combined with the residual connection, normalized, similar to the encoder. Subsequently, it is passed through a feed-forward network, and the result is added to the residual connection and normalized once again.

Linear and softmax

The last two blocks of steps rely on the "linear" and "softmax" components. The linear layer plays a crucial role in generating the final predictions or output sequence. The decoder processes the intermediate representations generated by the attention layers and maps them to the desired output sequence. To be more precise, the linear layer projects these representations back into the vocabulary, and these projected values are referred to as "logits". Logits represent the raw, unprocessed scores or values generated by a neural network prior to the application of a softmax activation function. Essentially, by providing logits to the softmax function, a token from the vocabulary corresponding to the token with the highest value is selected. The softmax function, in turn, produces a probability distribution over the vocabulary.

Training

When a sentence is provided as input to the decoder, two special tokens from the vocabulary are added: one at the beginning and one at the end. These tokens help the transformer recognize when the input sentence starts (<SOS>) and ends (<EOS>). For example, consider the sample sentence mentioned in Section 2.4.1, "I am queer and proud". After tokenization, it would look like this: [<SOS>, "I", "am", "queer", "and", "proud", <EOS>]. As explained by Vaswani et al. (2017) and illustrated in Figure 2.4, the decoder input is shifted to the right. This adjustment is due to the addition of the <SOS>token at the beginning of the input sentence. During the inference process, the decoder only receives the <SOS>token at step 0, and it generates the initial token of the output sequence. To maintain auto-regression, the decoder's output is then incorporated back into its input.

For subsequent steps, the input would look like this: [<SOS>, "I"] for step 1, [<SOS>, "I", "am"] for step 2, and so on. This process is repeated until the <EOS>token is generated or the output sequence reaches its maximum length.

2.5 Models

For the tests, we use several LLMs from the HuggingFace library (Wolf et al. (2019)) able to perform masked language modelling task based on their domains, settings, and training datasets, we select the LLMs that we employ. Starting from the basic BERT model (Devlin et al. (2018)), followed by the effective and memory-friendly ALBERT (Lan et al. (2019)), the Twitter-specific BERTweet model (Harywanto et al. (2022)), and the high-performance RoBERTa model (Liu et al. (2019)). All the models have their own version with different characteristics, these are summarise in Table 2.1.

Masked Language Modelling (MLM) consists of giving as input a string s to a language model. s is then converted into tokens that represent the contextual meaning c. The task consists of randomly masking some words with the token [MASK] in a sentence and then training the model to predict those words through the sentence's context. The main purpose is to find the most likely prediction p(m|c) of masked words m giving the context c.

2. Background

Model	Description	Layers	Hidden	Parameter	Parameter
			Dimensions	Count (Base)	Count (Large)
BERT	Basic BERT	10	768	110-136	340-355
	model	12		million	million
ALBERT	Effective and	10	768	Approximately	Approximately
	memory-friendly	12		11 million	18 million
BERTweet	Twitter-specific	10	768	110-136 million	340-355 million
	BERT model	12			
RoBERTa	High-performance	19	768	110-136 million	340-355 million
	RoBERTa model	14			

Table 2.1: Overview of language models utilized for the tests including key specifications.

BERT (Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers) (Devlin et al. (2018)) was the first transformer architecture-based encoder-only model. When it was initially released, it outperformed all state-of-the-art models on the well-known GLUE benchmark (Wang et al. (2018)), which evaluates natural language understanding (NLU) using a variety of tasks of varied difficulty. Masked language modelling (MLM) and next sentence prediction (NSP)¹⁵ are the two tasks for which BERT is pretrained (Tunstall et al. (2022)).

ALBERT stands for "A Lite BERT" (Lan et al. (2019)), and its goal is to be a more parameter-effective replacement for BERT. This is accomplished by employing parameter-sharing techniques including cross-layer parameter sharing and inter-sentence coherence loss during training. With these methods, performance is maintained or even enhanced while the number of pa-

¹⁵NSP is a training technique used by language models to teach the model to understand the relationship between two consecutive sentences. More precisely, the task consists of giving two consecutive sentences as input, and the model has to predict how strong their relationship is.

rameters is greatly reduced.

RoBERTa (A Robustly Optimized BERT Pretraining Approach) (Liu et al. (2019)) is another BERT variant designed to improve upon BERT's pretraining objectives. To improve pretraining, it uses larger batch sizes, longer sequences, and dynamic masking. With these modifications, the original BERT model performs better than before (Tunstall et al. (2022)).

BERTweet (Nguyen et al. (2020)) is a BERT version that has been trained exclusively on Twitter data. It was developed to handle the specific features of Twitter text, including hashtags, mentions, and informal language, and was refined on a sizable dataset of tweets. Its novelty is that it was developed using data from Twitter (Harywanto et al. (2022)).

Chapter 3

Related Work

This chapter explores the current research on gender, sexuality, and LGBTQIA+ issues within the field of NLP. Specifically, section 3.1 delves into past LGBTQIA+ research in NLP, while Section 3.2 examines different facets of hate speech detection and bias in language models. It specifically focuses on discrimination related to gender, sexuality, and LGBTQIA+ issues.

3.1 LGBTQ+ Community and LLMs

While there has been research on binary gender biases in NLP (such as Costa-jussà et al. (2020); Sun et al. (2019); Park et al. (2018); Zhao et al. (2017a)) there is a gap in the study and understanding queer gender biases towards individuals who do not conform to the gender binary. Ackerman (2019) made a pioneering contribution in this field by adopting an inclusive perspective on gender and proposing criteria for linguistically modelling coreference resolution. This groundbreaking work has served as an inspiration for other case studies, such as Cao and Daumé III (2019), which examined 150 contemporary co-reference resolution studies. Their research aimed to identify cisnormative ¹ assumptions. The study revealed that most of these

¹Cisnormativity refers to the assumption that everyone is cisgender, meaning they identify with the gender they were assigned at birth (Stewart et al. (2022)).

works tend to confuse linguistic and social genders and presuppose that social gender is binary. They found only one study that explicitly considered the use of "they/them" personal pronouns in co-reference resolution. This research has thus contributed to advancing the cause of gender inclusion and the creation of datasets that extend beyond the use of "he" or "she" pronouns.

Nevertheless, recent studies, like those by Hossain et al. (2023) and Lauscher et al. (2022), have highlighted an ongoing issue with natural language models struggling to comprehend and effectively use gender pronouns such as "they/them" or neo-pronouns like "xe/xem", "ze/zir", or "fae/faer". These discussions underscore the serious implications of language technologies that exclude certain genders, which can perpetuate discrimination against underrepresented and marginalized groups within the community.

Despite the growing interest among researchers in developing models that mitigate gender discrimination and promote visibility and equality, the field has yet to produce work that embraces an intersectional perspective, taking into consideration all aspects of identity, including sexual or romantic orientation, gender identity, pronoun usage, and gender expression, as well as pronouns preferences.

Felkner et al. (2023) point out that while some publications, like Nangia et al. (2020a), treat queerness as a single binary feature, others, such as Czarnowska et al. (2021), assume that all LGBTQIA+ subgroups face distinct and negative biases and therefore it is important to examine model fairness for each unique identity (such as being "lesbian", "agender", etc..).

According to Felkner et al. (2022), a growing body of literature explores historical biases in LLMs. However, most of these studies tend to overlook the full complexity of queer identities and associated biases. To support this claim, Devinney et al. (2022) conducted a review of 176 papers on gender bias in NLP. Their findings reveal that a majority of this research fails to explicitly incorporate gender theory, with very few taking into account intersectionality or inclusion, particularly when it comes to non-binary genders. Furthermore, many of these studies blur the lines between "social" and "linguistic" genders, thereby excluding trans^{*}, non-binary, and intersex individuals from the conversation.

To assess societal biases and stereotypes works like Nadeem et al. (2021); Nangia et al. (2020b) and Cryan et al. (2020) have produced datasets using crowdsourcing. These datasets serve as crucial resources for understanding and mitigating biases in NLP models, but it's worth noting that they may lack perspectives from specific communities, as crowd workers were often drawn from the general public. In alignment with this concern, Blodgett et al. (2020) emphasized that research should consider the real-life experiences of individuals within the LGBTQ+ community who are most affected by biases in NLP systems to address these issues effectively.

In their work, the first two publications employed a template-based methodology to assess stereotyped biases in four and seven categories, respectively. Both included the binary gender category, with only the second publication incorporating the category of sexual orientation.

According to Pillai et al. (2023), research and development teams must carefully consider the processes and resources needed to collaborate effectively with community members to maximize the societal and ethical impact of NLP-based products. This is exemplified by Felkner et al. (2023), which explicitly sought survey participants from the underrepresented group they aimed to measure biases against—the LGBTQIA+ community.

3.2 Hate Speech Detection and Queer-Phobia

According to Nockleby et al. (2000), hate speech is commonly defined as any form of communication that disparages an individual or a group based on specific characteristics, including race, colour, ethnicity, gender, orientation, nationality, religion, or other attributes. In recent years, there has been a growing interest in the study of hate speech and stereotypes, resulting in new research that examines the behaviour of language models targeting specific groups. Some studies take a comprehensive approach, examining bias and discrimination across various characteristics. For instance, Nadeem et al. (2021) explores gender, profession, race, and religion as part of their analysis.

Conversely, many approaches focus on a single discriminatory feature. For example, Davidson et al. (2019) and Sap et al. (2019) investigate racial bias in hate speech and abusive language detection, assessing how racial bias is propagated in models trained on widely used Twitter corpora annotated for toxic content.

New research is emerging, providing opportunities to explore additional features. For example, Chowdhury et al. (2019)) delves into hate speech detection, with a specific focus on religious hate speech in Arabic.

As mentioned in 3.1, studies on hate speech targeting gender and sexuality often adopt a binary orientation. As a result, most studies on identifying gender and sexuality-based hate speech have concentrated on issues like sexism (e.g. Kirk et al. (2023); Gambäck and Sikdar (2017)) and misogyny e.g Attanasio et al. (2022b); Guest et al. (2021); Safi Samghabadi et al. (2020)).

However, there has been a recent increase in research recognizing homophobia and transphobia, thanks to a special dataset introduced by Chakravarthi et al. (2022), who undertake the task of Homophobia and Transphobia Detection. This dataset contains 22000 YouTube comments in English, Tamil, and code-mixed in Tamil-English, manually tagged to indicate the presence of homophobia, transphobia, or neither. This has allowed researchers to explore innovative approaches, including Maimaitituoheti (2022); Bhandari and Goyal (2022); Ashraf et al. (2022); Singh and Motlicek (2022); Swaminathan et al. (2022), and many others.

In the last years, there has been an effort to broaden the scope of the work outside Tamil and English. For instance, Vásquez et al. (2023) collected 706,886 unique tweets (annotating 11,000 of them) in Mexican Spanish using an LGBTQ+ lexicon to detect LGBTQ+Phobia ². They also experimented with various supervised classification models to identify online

²A general term to describe discrimination or negative attitudes and behaviours towards people with a non-heteronormative sexual orientation or gender identity.

LGBTQ+Phobia, particularly in Mexican Spanish.

Locatelli et al. (2023) investigated public discourse surrounding LGBTQIA+ issues on Twitter, identifying areas where homotransphobic speech persists across tweets in seven different languages.

Template-based methods leverage the fact that BERT-like models are trained with a masked language modelling target. These methods involve predicting the masked tokens when provided with a phrase containing placeholders marked as [MASK]. Analyzing the predictions for these [MASK] tokens can yield insights into the existing bias in the model's representations (as discussed by Nozza et al. (2022a)).

Several previous studies have employed this straightforward approach to evaluate and uncover undesirable model biases. For instance, Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) used templates like "The situation makes [PERSON] feel [EMOTION WORD]" to assess whether sentiment analysis systems exhibit statistically significant gender bias, where [PERSON] is a variable subject.

Several datasets, such as those mentioned in Lauscher et al. (2022); Vásquez et al. (2023); Felkner et al. (2023), have been developed to categorize varying degrees of offensiveness, including homophobia, transphobia, non-anti-LGBT+ content, and more. However, none of this prior work incorporates the MLM technique. As highlighted by Nozza et al. (2022b), there are very few studies that assess the harm caused by sentence completions generated by LLMs (Large Language Models) concerning LGBTQIA+ individuals.

A dataset closely aligned with ours was created by Ousidhoum et al. (2021). Their dataset comprises 10,587 sentences, each following the pattern "PersonX ACTION because he [MASK]," where "PersonX" is substituted with word groups associated with racial groups, various (non)religious affiliations, genders, sexual orientations, political views, social groups at the intersection of two attributes, and marginalized communities.

Another intriguing dataset related to masked language modelling and pronouns is the one introduced by Hossain et al. (2023). In this dataset, they employed a structured approach, using a model sentence like "I need your history book, [Name]. Could you lend it to [PRONOUN]?" They replaced the token "[Name]" with an actual name and associated pronoun (e.g., "Amari (xe/xem)"). Their goal was to test the LMs' ability to determine the correct pronoun and its form in the "[PRONOUN]" gap.

We believe that utilizing names as a factor in the context of gender discrimination is incongruent with the aims of our research. Associating specific names with particular genders may inadvertently reinforce negative stereotypes, as gender is a complex and multifaceted concept.

Furthermore, while assessing LMs based on their ability to predict pronouns is an engaging avenue, we made the decision to shift our focus towards alternative methods for analyzing pronoun usage. These alternative approaches are discussed in greater detail in Section 4.2.2.

Chapter 4

QueerBench's Architecture

The aim of this chapter is to provide an overview of the structure and components of our project, QueerBench. Section 4.1 delves into the Queer-Bench framework, outlining the project flow and providing a detailed breakdown of each phase. Moving on to Section 4.2, it explores the composition of our dataset, shedding light on template characteristics and the categories of subjects utilized. Section 4.3 introduces the tools employed to evaluate test results and elucidate the procedure for calculating assessment scores both for individual tests and for the comprehensive QueerBench evaluation.

4.1 Task

In this study, we present QueerBench, a framework that employs a templatebased approach to assess sentence completions generated by English language models through the MLM task within the context of the queer community. As detailed in Chapter 1, our objective is to identify potential biases and stereotypes in the predictions made by these language models, particularly within the LGBTQIA+ context.

QueerBench's workflow is depicted in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: The image illustrates QueerBench's workflow. To begin, the template is intersected with the subjects, resulting in the creation of a fresh dataset. Within this dataset, sentences are input into the language model to generate a set of new predictions. Subsequently, these predictions undergo assessment using various techniques and tools designed to identify harmful or toxic text and expressions. Finally, during the evaluation phase, it is possible to compute the statistics related to the level of harmfulness within the model's prediction outputs.

To achieve this objective, we have delineated three key steps (where each step's number refers to Figure 4.1):

Generate a set of sentences with a gap [MASK] based on a neutral sentence n and a subject s. The subject s can be defined either by term t or a pronoun p. In the case of the t group, all words are categorized as either "queer" or "non-queer" in a binary manner. These categories further include sub-classes related to "sexual orientation", "gender identity", and "other". On the other hand, when it comes to the set of pronouns, it is classified into multiple categories, including "neutral pronouns", "neo-pronouns", and "binary pronouns". All these

elements are retrieved as explained in Section 4.2.2.

2. To assess the potential harm associated with the generated sentences, we utilize each sentence of the dataset as input for several language models including BERT, ALBERT, RoBERTa, and BERTweet to perform MLM task. In this task, the goal is to predict the most probable words that fill in the gap [MASK] in the sentences and complete them. For each model, we consider both "base" and "large" versions (more information about the models and their parameters is available in Section 2.5) and for each template, we conduct two rounds of testing.

In the first round, we obtain the top-1 most probable word completion from the language models, resulting in a single-word prediction that best fits the "blank spaces" represented by [MASK]. In the second round, we expand our assessment by retrieving the top 5 most likely words. This dual-method approach allows us to examine how model performance changes when varying the number of words required for completion and how assessment shifts as we adjust the number of words to be assessed. This approach provides valuable insights into the language models' ability to generate contextually relevant content and facilitates a comprehensive assessment of their capabilities in predicting sentence completions.

An illustrative example of the model's output is presented in Figure 4.2.

3. Assess the connotation, harmfulness, and toxicity of predictions obtained at both the word and sentence levels using three state-of-the-art tools: AFINN, HurtLex, and Perspective API. These tools aid in identifying harmful content and assessing imbalances across various subject types. Additional information about these models is available in Section 4.3.

By aggregating the results from these models, we can calculate a score on a scale ranging from 0 to 100. 0 as a score represents the most desirable outcome, indicating the lowest level of harmfulness, while a higher score suggests a greater degree of harm. More information about the tools and the calculation of these scores is available in Section (4.3).



Figure 4.2: The image illustrates the implementation of the MLM task within our framework. In this example, the input term t (highlighted in green) serves as the subject s represented (in blue) within the neutral sentence n. This neutral sentence is provided alongside the target. The completed sentence, which is a part of our dataset, is then fed into the model. The model generates both the top-1 and top-5 predictions (which are the ones in orange). In the first scenario, the word "person" is the most probable prediction to fill the gap. In the second scenario, all five predicted words are considered as potential results for assessment.

4.2 Dataset

To construct our dataset, we required two primary types of data: subjects and neutral sentences. The entire dataset is created by intersect these subjects and neutral sentences, resulting in a collection of 8268 meaningful sentences for input into the LMs.

4.2.1 Neutral Sentences

These neutral sentences are designed to accommodate a subject of our choice and a placeholder [MASK], which can be later replaced with a prediction from a language model.

Our approach, which relies on MLM, involves generating sentences with unbiased predicates. These predicates, like "works as" or "is known for" are preceded by a space [SUBJECT] and followed by a space [MASK]. Once the [SUBJECT] spaces have been replaced with the chosen subject, we utilize BERT to complete sentences like "The man is known for [MASK]" or "The man worked as [MASK]". In this context, "The man" represents the previously selected subject.

To advance in the creation of our dataset, we opted to utilize the dataset developed by Nozza et al. (2022b). This dataset was specifically designed to assess the harmfulness of sentence completions when the subjects are from the LGBTQIA+ community. The researchers constructed a set of 15 template-based sentences for LLMs to complete. We chose to use these neutral sentences as our foundation and expanded them by incorporating more unbiased predicates, resulting in a total of 106 phrases. We then employed this expanded dataset for our task.

4.2.2 Subjects

Following the acquisition of neutral sentences, as detailed in Section 4.2.1, the next phase involves creating subject groups to integrate into the neutral sentences. To accomplish this, we employ two types of subjects: those associated with specific terms and those represented by pronouns. We categorize terms related to identities, sexuality, and queer culture into the following groups: gender identity, sexual and romantic orientation/attraction, as well as higher-level categories and umbrella phrases. On the other hand, we have pronoun categories, which are based on binary pronouns, gender-neutral pronouns, and neo-pronouns.

Terms

We define the majority of terms related to gender identity, sexual/romantic orientation, and other queer terms using Nozza et al. (2022b); Felkner et al. (2023) datasets. We subsequently conduct further research and expand the list of terms by drawing upon our personal experiences, engaging in informal discussions with members of the queer community, and referencing web articles¹ We label every term with the binary field "queer"/ "non-queer", which refers to whether the term is usually referred to as a queer person or not. Here is the complete list of terms used:

Gender identity: <u>agender, enby, gender non-conforming, genderfluid, gen-</u> derless, genderqueer, polygender, trans, transfeminine, transgender, transman, transmasculine, transwoman, xenogender, pangender, demigender, binary, cisgender, gender conforming, non-binary, bigender, demiboy, demigirl, trans*, man, woman, boy, cis.

Sexual or romantic orientation/attraction: <u>aro, romantic, asexual,</u> biromantic, bisexual, demisexual, gay, homoromantic, homosexual, lesbian, panromantic, pansexual, bi, demi, pan, heteroromantic, heterosexual, straight, ace.

Other: <u>intersexual, androgyne, queer, LGBT, LGBTQ, LGBTQI, LGBTQIA, LGBTQIA+, nonqueer</u>, ally, femme, butch, drag king, drag queen.

The underlined terms are extracted from the work of Nozza et al. (2022b), while the italicized words are sourced from Felkner et al. (2023).

In line with Nozza et al. (2022b) methodology, we incorporated the definite article "The" before identities in the sentences provided to the language model. Our approach involves using a pattern like "The [Term] person" when necessary. It's worth noting that the term "person" was not required when

¹https://www.gendercensus.com

using certain phrases, such as "the man" or "the drag queen", especially in cases where non-adjectives were used.

Pronouns

We've specified our set of pronouns based on the research conducted by Lauscher et al. (2022). This resulted in a collection of 16 pronouns, categorized as follows: two binary pronouns ("he" and "she"), one neutral pronoun (singular "they"), and twelve neo-pronouns (such as "xe", "thon", etc..).

Similarly to Lauscher et al. (2022), when addressing neo-pronoun groups with distinct forms, we've chosen to utilize a single form. For example we just use the form "he/ him" for "he", "him", "his", "his", "himself". It's worth noting that our list of pronouns isn't exhaustive, as pronoun usage continues to evolve. However, in contrast to their work, we've made the decision not to include pronouns like nounself, emojiself, numberself, or nameself from their compilation, primarily due to their infrequent usage. The complete list of pronouns is available in Table 4.1.

Overall, we gathered the following dataset of 75 terms: 30 identities (e.g. "agender", "transgender", "cisgender", "non-binary", etc..), 18 sexual/romantic orientation and attraction (e.g. "aromantic", "lesbian", "heteroromantic", "homosexual", etc..), 16 pronouns (e.g. "he", "she", "they", etc..) and 11 other terms (e.g. "intersexual", "androgyne", "butch", "LGBTQIA+", etc..).

Type	Nominative	Accusative	Dep. Possessive	Indep. Possessive	Reflexive
D.	he	him	his	his	himself
Binary	she	her	her	hers	herself
Neutral	they	them	their	theirs	themself
Neo	thon	thon	thons	thons	thonself
	e	em	es	ems	emself
	xe	xem	xyr	xyrs	xemself
	ey	em	eir	eirs	emself
	ze	zir	zir	zirs	zirself
	ve	ver	vis	vis	verself
	per	per	pers	pers	perself
	fae	faer	faer	faers	faerself
	ae	aer	aer	aers	aerself
	zie	zim	zir	zis	zierself
	sie	sie	hir	hirs	hirself
	tey	ter	tem	ters	terself

Table 4.1: The table shows the pronouns used in the test with several pronoun forms.

4.3 Assessment Metrics

Following the steps detailed in Section 4.1, after feeding input the sentences from the dataset into the language models, a list of predicted words is generated. These words represent the top-n likely predictions made by the LMs to fill in the "[MASK]" placeholder. The assessment phase involves analyzing these predictions to determine whether they may be harmful with respect to the subjects they refer to.

We employed three distinct techniques to evaluate the LMs' predictions. Specifically, we utilized the AFINN and HurtLex tools to assess the model's predictions at the word level (focused on individual predicted words). Additionally, we use the Perspective API to evaluate the predictions at the sentence level (considering the entire sentence containing the predicted word). The final step involves combining the scores obtained from these three tools to derive a single score known as the QueerBench score.

4.3.1 AFINN

Hate speech and sentiment analysis are strongly intertwined, and it is safe to infer that a hate speech message is typically accompanied by negative sentiment (Schmidt and Wiegand (2017)). We use AFINN² tool developed by Rowe et al. (2011) to perform sentiment analysis task. Sentiment analysis refers to a method for analyzing words or portions of text and determining if they contain positive, negative, or neutral connotations. Word scores in AFINN range from minus five (negative) to plus five (positive).

For instance, the word "raped" is considered to have a bad connotation and has a value equal to -3; on the other hand, the word "amazing" is considered positive and has a connotation of 4.

Given a vector of one or more than one words W, denoted as $W = w_1, \ldots, w_n$, the AFINN score for a single input sentence in both top-1 and top-5 predictions is calculated as follows:

$$AFINN(W) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} A(w_i)}{n}$$
(4.1)

Where each word w_i is associated with an AFINN score, noted as $A(w_i)$, where $w_i \in [-5, 5]$, *n* represents the dimension of the set of words *W* to be evaluated and *i* defines the *i*-th word. The AFINN score of the whole set of predicted words referred to a single sentence is computed as the average of the singular AFINN score obtained on each word.

In line with other studies like Nozza et al. (2022b) and Nadeem et al. (2021), we believe good and bad connotations should be equally possible

²https://github.com/fnielsen/afinn

rather than good connotations being preferred over bad connotations because any type of oversimplified belief or opinion is known to harm target groups (Czopp et al. (2015)). We agreed that the model demonstrates stereotypical bias if it consistently favours positive connotations over negative ones. In our opinion, a perfect score for this would be zero. If it is larger than 0, it shouldn't differ by gender or orientation. If not, the LM exhibits a prejudice against a specific identity.

Label	Description
PS	negative stereotypes ethnic slurs
RCI	locations and demonyms
РА	professions and occupations
DDF	physical disabilities and diversity
DDP	cognitive disabilities and diversity
DMC	moral and behavioral defects
IS	words related to social and economic disadvantage
OR	plants
AN	animals
ASM	male genitalia
ASF	female genitalia
PR:	words related to prostitution
OM:	words related to homosexuality
QAS	with potential negative connotations
CDS	derogatory words
RE	felonies and words related to crime and immoral behavior
SVP	words related to the seven deadly sins of the Christian tradition

Table 4.2:	HurtLex's	categories
------------	-----------	------------

4.3.2 HurtLex

HurtLex Bassignana et al. (2018) is a multilingual lexicon of hate words that can be used as a resource to analyze and identify hate speech in social media texts from a multilingual perspective. HurtLex serves a 17-class classifier, it assigns each word to a specific category. The categories are shown in Table 4.2.

When given a single word, denoted as w, the HurtLex score for a single input sentence is computed as HurtLex(w) = C

Where C is a vector that represents each HurtLex category. It is structured as $C = [c_1, \ldots, c_n]$, where n = 17, indicating the number of categories. Each element c_i indicates whether the word falls into a particular category. Specifically, it assigns the value 1 to the selected category c_i and 0 to all the other categories. Noting the constraint $\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i = 0, 1$ since a word can belong to either zero or one category.

In the case of the top-5 prediction, instead of having a single word w, we have a vector of words W represented as $W = w_1, \ldots, w_n$. The resulting vector C remains the same, where $C = [c_1, \ldots, c_n]$, n = 17 representing the categories and i defines the *i*-th category. However, the previous constraint is removed, and each category c_i in the vector C represents the number of words in w_i that have been categorized in the *i*-th category.

To simplify the final computation, the HurtLex score for a word or a series of words is calculated through the following formula:

$$HurtLex(W) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \tag{4.2}$$

This formula sums each element within the vector counting how many words have been categorized as toxic or harmful referring to a specific sentence.

Input	Output
"The xenogender person is exceptionally skilled at becoming a killer"	Toxicity = 0.6 Identity attack = 0.6 Insult = 0.4 Profanity = 0.3 Threat = 0.4

Figure 4.3: The image shows an example of Perspective API. On the left part of the image, there is the input sentence, on the right there is Perspective's result.

4.3.3 Perspective API

Perspective API³ is a free tool that employs machine learning to detect toxic comments sentence-based. Perspective API generates scores based on various categories: severe toxicity, insults, profanity, identity attacks, threats, and sexually explicit content.

Each score falls within a range between 0 and 1, where 0 represents nontoxic content, and 1 signifies extremely toxic content. Following the approach outlined by Nozza et al. (2022b) and Ousidhoum et al. (2021), through Perspective API is possible to assess the implicit presence of harmful language in the sentences.

Comparing our study to the work of Nozza et al. (2022b), they solely focus on the "identity attack" score, this makes the research more comprehensive as we consider not only identity attacks but also other harmful types of context. A sentence instance is shown in Figure 4.3

When provided with a single sentence, denoted as s, the Perspective score for that sentence is computed as P(s) = C.

In this equation, C is a vector that represents each Perspective category.

³https://www.perspectiveapi.com

It is structured as $C = [c_1, \ldots, c_n]$, where n = 5, indicating the number of categories. Each element c_i in the C vector indicates the score of the input word in the *i*-th category. Unlike the HurtLex case, we employ a decision threshold of $\beta = 0.5$, meaning that if a score is greater than or equal to β , it is classified as inside the category; otherwise, it falls outside that specific category. Consequently, we assign the value 1 to the chosen category c_i and 0 to all the other categories.

In the context of the top-5 prediction, instead of a single sentence S, we work with a vector of sentences S represented as $S = [s_1, \ldots, s_n]$. The resulting vector C remains the same, where $C = [c_1, \ldots, c_n]$, with n = 5, and i signifies the *i*-th category.

To simplify the final Perspective score computation, we define the Perspective score for a word or a series of words using the following formula:

$$Perspective(S) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \tag{4.3}$$

This formula sums each element within the vector counting how many sentences have been categorized as toxic or harmful.

4.3.4 Scores

The QueerBench score is employed to measure the level of harmfulness in a model's predictions. It assigns a numerical score to each language model, ranging from 0 to 100. A higher score indicates a greater degree of toxicity and harmfulness. This assessment is based on the three tools we utilized: AFINN, HurtLex, and the Perspective API. This section aims to illustrate how to combine the scores of individual sentences in the dataset to obtain a single value with reference to a specific model m. Eventually, it adjusts the score range into a new scale from 0 to 100, providing an overview of how the QueerBench score is calculated. The input data is a set of sets of words $W = w_1, \ldots, w_n$ where each element w_i represent a specific *i*-th sentence's set of words generated by the model m during the prediction phase. The number of words inside the set depends on whether we are considering a top-1 prediction or a top-5 prediction.

AFINN

As described in Section 4.3.1, $AFINN(w_i)$ takes as input a set of words w_i and outputs a number between -5 and 5, expressing the average word connotation.

The overall $AFINN_S$ is calculated as follows:

$$AFINN_{Score}(m,W) = \left| \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} AFINN(w_i)}{n} \right) \right| \cdot 20 \tag{4.4}$$

Where W is the set of sets of words generated by the model for each w_i sentence, n is the number of elements in W, representing the number of sentences. This formula first compute the overall average score obtained by combining each word's score of each sentences. Secondly, it convert the values obtained from the original range of -5 to 5 to a new scale of 0 to 100. In this adjusted scale, if the old value was close to 0 (neutral), the new result approaches 0, and vice versa; the closer the old value was to -5 or 5, the closer the new value approaches 100.

HurtLex

As described in Section 4.3.2, $HurtLex(w_i)$ takes as input a set of words w_i and outputs a number of words that have been categorized as toxic or harmful referring to a specific sentence.

The overall Hurtlex $_S$ is calculated as follows:

$$HurtLex_{Score}(m, W) = 100 \cdot \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} HurtLex(w_i)}{n}\right)$$
(4.5)

Where W is the set of sets of words generated by the model for each w_i sentence, n is the number of elements in W, representing the number of sentences. This formula first computes the overall average score by combining the scores of each word in every sentence. Secondly, it converts the average

value obtained into the percentage of words categorized as toxic or harmful by HurtLex across the entire dataset. It's important to emphasize that a higher score suggests a higher level of harmfulness in the predictions, whereas a lower percentage signifies the opposite.

Perspective API

In this scenario, similar to previous cases, a set of sets of words generated by the m model is provided as input. However, in this instance, the evaluation extends beyond just the words in the set; it encompasses the entirety of the content within the referenced sentence i. This distinction arises because, as explained in Section 4.3.3, the Perspective API considers the entire sentence for a sentence-level evaluation. Consequently, $Perspective(w_i)$ takes a set of sentences w_i as input and produces a count of sentences categorized as toxic or harmful.

The overall Hurtlex $_S$ is calculated as follows:

$$Perspective_S(m, W) = 100 \cdot \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^n Perspective(w_i)}{n}\right)$$
(4.6)

Where W is the set of sets of words generated by the model for each w_i sentence, n is the number of elements in W, representing the number of sentences. This formula first computes the overall average score by combining the scores of each word in every sentence. Secondly, it converts the average value obtained into the percentage of sentences categorized as toxic or harmful by Perspective API across the entire dataset. It's important to emphasize that a higher score suggests a higher level of harmfulness in the predictions, whereas a lower percentage signifies the opposite.

QueerBench

QueerBench score is the final result, it is used to assess the overall harmfulness of the prediction obtained by a specific model m. QueerBench is calculated by averaging the scores obtained from the three tools used for assessment giving them the same weight. The QueerBench score is calculated as follows:

$$QueerBench_{Score}(m, D) = \frac{AFINN_S(m, D) + HurtLex_S(m, D) + Perpsective_S(m, D)}{3}$$

$$(4.7)$$

Where $D = d_1, \ldots, d_n$ is the set of sets that contains the words generated by the model m for each sentence d_i of the dataset.

The final result is a number between 0 and 100. The closer the score is to 100, the worse the prediction, indicating a higher level of harm to the predictions.

Table 4.3 presents the highest, average, and optimal scores attainable in QueerBench. These scores refer to the original score range of the three tools, representing the averages obtained across all the sentences in the dataset without the adjustments made to fit the scores into the QueerBench formula.

	Worst score	Average score	Best score
AFINN	$\pm(5)$	$\pm(2.5)$	0
HurtLex	1	0.5	0
Perspective	1	0.5	0
QueerBench	100	50	0

Table 4.3: QueerBench summary score table.

Chapter 5

Experiments

This chapter offers observations and analyses of the data gathered during the tests. To improve the clarity of our findings, the chapter is structured into two primary sections.

Section 5.1 presents the outcomes achieved by applying assessment tools to sentences in the dataset that feature pronouns as subjects. Section 5.2 illustrates results derived from sentences in the dataset where terms serve as subjects. In both cases, the analysis categorizes the results based on assessing tests, providing sample results for each test. Finally, the Queer-Bench score for each model resulting from this research is presented. The discussion includes trends observed in the scores across various cases and the identification of critical and optimal points obtained from the models.

5.1 Pronouns

This section analyses the results and trends based on the data obtained when sentences in the dataset have a pronoun as the subject. The graphs presented in this section are derived from various models' predictions (in both top-1 and top-5 predictions) and assessed using the three tools mentioned in the previous sections (see Section 4.1). The categories under examination encompass three types of pronouns: neo-pronouns, neutral pronouns, and binary pronouns.

5.1.1 AFINN



Figure 5.1: The image shows the results of the AFINN test obtained by BERT models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as subject. The three data points correspond to the three mentioned categories. The blue point represents the average score for neo-pronouns, the orange point represents the average score for neutral pronouns, and the green point represents the average score for binary pronouns.

The first test involves sentiment analysis using the AFINN tool (explained in Section 4.3.1). The tool is applied to each prediction generated by the models (and in both top-1 and top-5 predictions). The images in this section display point-to-point graphs (without connecting lines) that illustrate the relationship between the AFINN average score of the predictions and the models. Additionally, the standard deviation of the results is calculated. It is a metric that quantifies the extent of data dispersion within each category or group. Moreover, it provides insights into how much individual data points deviate from the group's mean (average) and how widely distributed the data points are.

Figure 5.1 displays the results obtained using BERT models, both BERT_{base} and BERT_{large} models and both top-1 and top-5 predictions.

In this case, all the models exhibit similar alignment and a score close to 0, which is the best score in this test. According to the results, the average rating for binary pronouns appears to be slightly higher, followed by neo pronouns, and finally neutral pronouns, which are the closest to neutrality. There is a slight discrepancy in the case of the BERT_{large} model in the top-5 prediction, where the three values remain close to each other. Nevertheless, these deviations fall within a narrow range, and the standard deviation reveals how the scores are distributed across a range of values rather than being concentrated at a single value.

These consistent patterns indicate that it's challenging to detect bias or discrimination in these results, as the evaluation of pronouns in this context is very similar across the board.

When considering the overall results of this test across all models, several differences become apparent. Figure 5.2 illustrates the results of the AFINN test obtained by all models predictions. Here the scores exhibit notable disparities depending on the specific model, the number of predictions assessed, and the number of model parameters.

In contrast to the relatively consistent trend observed in BERT models, ALBERT and RoBERTa models present variations. ALBERT displays inconsistencies, with the model's parameters appearing as a key discriminating factor. The assessments of $ALBERT_{base}$ tend to lean more towards neutral pronouns, hovering around 0, whereas $ALBERT_{large}$ displays a general more positive connotation, particularly towards binary pronouns, leaving the other two categories closer to 0.

RoBERTa's predictions, on the other hand, appear to be influenced by

the number of predictions assessed. Large models tend to assess predictions with a more neutral connotation, thereby approaching a score of 0.



Figure 5.2: The image shows the results of the AFINN test obtained by all models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as subject. The three data points correspond to the three mentioned categories. The blue point represents the average score for neo-pronouns, the orange point represents the average score for neutral pronouns, and the green point represents the average score for binary pronouns.

Notably, the BERTweet model exhibits a behaviour that significantly differs from the others. Its assessments are predominantly clustered around 0, with a relatively narrow standard deviation compared to the other models. This outcome suggests a strong concentration of neutral assessments across all pronoun categories, leading to a more favourable overall result in Queer-Bench framework.

5.1.2 HurtLex

The second test involves the use of HurtLex tool (described in Section 4.3.2) for a word-level evaluation. The tool is applied to each prediction generated by the models. The images in this section display bar and line graphs that illustrate the harm levels according to HurtLex. The categories under examination are the HurtLex categories (see Section 4.3.2) and the subjects are categorized as mentioned before.



Figure 5.3: The image shows the results of the HurtLex test obtained by RoBERTa models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as subject. The bars in the graphs are based on each HurtLex category to determine the general harm level of each model for a specific type of subject. The line graph shows the trend of the results for different subject types. The three bars correspond to the three mentioned categories. The leftmost column represents the scores obtained by neo pronouns, the centre column represents the scores for neutral pronouns, and the rightmost column represents the scores for binary pronouns. The lines in the graph illustrate the trend in the pronoun categories.

Figure 5.3 presents the results obtained by RoBERTa models, both the RoBERTabase and RoBERTalarge models and considering both top-1 and top-5 predictions.

There are two discernible patterns in the results. The first pattern is related to the type of model used. The base models exhibit negative biases toward the category of neutral pronouns, followed by neo-pronouns and binary pronouns. In contrast, the large models show a stronger bias against neo and binary pronouns, favouring neutral pronouns.



Figure 5.4: The image shows the results of the HurtLex test obtained by all model predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as the subject. The bars in the graphs are based on each HurtLex category to determine the general harm level of each model for a specific type of subject. The line graph shows the trend of the results for different subject types. The three bars correspond to the three mentioned categories. The leftmost column represents the scores obtained by neo pronouns, the centre column represents the scores for neutral pronouns, and the rightmost column represents the scores for binary pronouns. The lines in the graph illustrate the trend in the pronoun categories.
The second pattern is determined by the number of pronouns evaluated. Models yield more negative scores in scenarios where top-5 predictions are considered, as this leads to a higher percentage, ranging from a minimum of 4% to a peak of 17%, of harmful terms.

Regarding the HurtLex categories, it's noticeable that the "derogatory word" class is highly populated, especially for large models. The "animals" class is also quite prevalent across all types of models. The pronoun categories exhibit similar patterns to each other, and their variation is prevalent based on the model.

Stepping back and examining the general evaluations obtained on the various models, it is possible to observe a clear general pattern in the results, except for BERTweet models that deviate significantly from this pattern.

In fact, as depicted in Figure 5.4, all models follow an evaluation scheme that ranges between 2% and 10% harmfulness, with only a few exceptions. The top-1 predictions exhibit very low values, while the top-5 predictions demonstrate higher values. The only model that does not conform to this pattern is BERTweet, which displays values that are entirely inconsistent with each other. Specifically, in the case of BERTweet_{base} in top-5 prediction, the highest peak is achieved with an 88% harmfulness rate, primarily arising from the ""female genitalia class. However, the other BERTweet models exhibit the opposite behaviour, with a minimal level of harmfulness, approaching zero.

In terms of the HurtLex categories, the "derogatory words" class makes up a significant percentage, followed by "animals" and, notably, "female genitalia" classes in the BERTweet_{base} in top-5 prediction model.

5.1.3 Perspective API

Section 4.3.3 provides a description of the third test, which utilizes the Perspective API tool for a sentence-level analysis. This tool is used to assess every prediction generated by the models. The bar and line graphs displayed in this section illustrate toxicity levels as determined by the Perspective API,

Nec Neutral 10 Binary Toxicity Identity attack nsult Profanity 8 Threat Perspective score % 6 2 0 ALBERTIArge[1] ALBERTIArge[5] ALBERTBAS ALBER Mode

following the same scheme used in Paragraph 5.1.2 with HurtLex's graphs.

Figure 5.5: The image shows the results of the Perspective test obtained by ALBERT models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as subject. The bars in the graphs are based on each Perspective API's category to determine the general harm level of each model for a specific type of subject. The line graph shows the trend of the results for different subject types. The line graph shows the trend of the results for different subject types. The line bars correspond to the three mentioned categories. The leftmost column represents the scores obtained by neo pronouns, the centre column represents the scores for neutral pronouns, and the rightmost column represents the scores for binary pronouns. The lines in the graph illustrate the trend in the pronoun categories.

The model examined in detail in Figure 5.5 is ALBERT. In the graph, several patterns and key information become clearly visible. Based on model parameters, it's evident that the results obtained in top-1 prediction exhibit lower scores, which are between 0% and 4%. On the other hand, the scores

obtained in the top-5 prediction register toxicity levels exceeding 6%.

Additionally, there is a consistent trend in the result obtained from large models where toxicity levels are quite unbalanced based on different pronoun categories. These levels are higher for binary pronouns, followed by neopronouns, and finally, neutral pronouns, which exhibit the lower levels.



Figure 5.6: The image shows the results of the Perspective test obtained by all model predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as subject. The bars in the graphs are based on each Perspective API's category to determine the general harm level of each model for a specific type of subject. The line graph shows the trend of the results for different subject types. The line graph shows the trend of the results for different subject types. The three bars correspond to the three mentioned categories. The leftmost column represents the scores obtained by neo pronouns, the centre column represents the scores for neutral pronouns, and the rightmost column represents the scores for binary pronouns. The lines in the graph illustrate the trend in the pronoun categories. Moreover, the Perspective classes that appear most prominently are *toxicity* and *insult*, consistently prevalent in the majority of evaluations.

The overall graph of Perspective API's result obtained in all the models is shown in Figure 5.6. Its scores exhibit non-linear patterns when comparing different models and parameters, making it challenging to discern a clear pattern. Among the models, RoBERTa and BERT stand out with the highest toxicity values, reaching peaks of 17%, followed by ALBERT with 11%. In contrast, BERTweet has a notably lower toxicity score, staying below 2%. The most significant Perspective categories, which the results have been categorized, include "toxicity" and "insults" classes, with "profanity" and "threats" following closely. When it comes to assessing toxicity detected based on pronoun classes, the binary and neo-pronoun classes show higher statistics compared to the neutral class.

5.1.4 Intermediate results

This paragraph shows the intermediate results of this section. The following results are incorporated into those obtained on the terms (which is examine in Section 5.2.4) to obtain the final QueerBench assessment. The data is displayed using a $n \times m$ heat map shown in Figure 5.7, where n is the number of assessed categories, and m is the number of models.

The results obtained using pronouns as subjects do not exhibit a high degree of harmfulness or bias. The predominant colour is yellow, indicating generally low scores, with darker regions signifying higher values up to 15%. The only exception is observed in the case of the top-5 BERTweet_{base} model's prediction within the HurtLex test, which deviates significantly from the average. Its results consistently hover around 87% across all three pronoun categories. This outcome is likely to have a negative influence on the final evaluation of QueerBench (discussed in Section 5.3).



Figure 5.7: The image shows the intermediate results of the three tests obtained by all model predictions related to pronoun category. The graph shows the results by highlighting the low values with a light colour and the high ones with a dark colour and the written values represent the percentages on the entire dataset.

5.2 Terms

This section analyses the results and trends based on the data obtained when sentences in the dataset have terms as subjects. As in the previous section, the graphs are derived from various models (both base and large models and asking for top-1 and top-5 predictions). In this section, the graph composition won't be revisited for the sake of brevity. The categories used have now been updated to align with the term structure (as described in Section 5.14). Consequently, the categories will no longer be "neo-", "neutral" and "binary" pronouns but will be referred to as "queer" and "non-queer" terms.

5.2.1 AFINN

The first test involves sentiment analysis using the AFINN tool (explained in Section 4.3.1). The results are presented through point-to-point graphs that illustrate the relationship between the AFINN average scores of the predictions and the models that generate them. The standard deviation of the results is also calculated and shown.

Figure 5.8 shows the results of the AFINN test obtained by RoBERTa models' predictions. The range of variation in the average scores for both categories is around 0.25%. This means that the results appear pretty balanced based on the two categories. However, there is a significant noteworthy feature. It's evident that the standard deviation range for queer terms is much wider than the one obtained over terms categorized as non-queer. This implies that the score obtained on the sentences that have a queer term as the subject is less concentrated around the mean value, and thus more spread out.

Figure 5.9 displays the values obtained from the AFINN test on all the models' predictions. ALBERT and BERT models (in all their versions) exhibit a slight imbalance in the term assessment, showing a lower connotation on sentences that have queer terms as subjects compared to the ones that have a non-queer term as subject.



Figure 5.8: The image shows the results of the AFINN test obtained by RoBERTa models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a terms as subject. The three data points correspond to the two mentioned categories. The blue point represents the average score for the queer category, the orange point represents the average score for the non-queer category.

The same does not apply to the other two models; in fact, RoBERTa shows scattered results without a clear pattern, and BERTweet remains completely detached from the evaluations of the other models. In fact, BERTweet shows average scores very close to 0 in both categories, with nearly constant standard deviations around the midpoint. This score approaches the desired optimum, where the scores obtained from the categories should be equivalent to each other and as close as possible to the point of neutral connotation, which is 0.



Figure 5.9: The image shows the results of the AFINN test obtained by all models' predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having terms as subject. The three data points correspond to the two mentioned categories. The blue point represents the average score for the queer category, the orange point represents the average score for the non-queer category.

5.2.2 HurtLex

In this section, the HurtLex tool (introduced in Section 4.3.2) is used to perform a word-level assessment of the sentences generated by all the models' predictions.

The graph structure employed here mirrors the one in Section 5.1. It consists of a combination of a bar graph and a line graph, representing harm levels according to HurtLex.



Figure 5.10: The image shows the results of the HurtLex test obtained by BERT models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a term as subject. The bar in the graphs presents each HurtLex category (as explained in Section 4.3.2), while the line in the graph illustrates the trend of results for the two subject categories.

Figure 5.10 displays the results of the HurtLex test based on predictions obtained from BERT models. Analyzing these results and identifying underlying patterns is challenging, as is unclear what drives these patterns over the four different parameterizations of the model.

It's evident that a significant number of predictions fall into the HurtLex classes of "Prostitution" and "Homosexuality". The predominance of "Homosexuality" predictions can be attributed to the nature of the topic of this study. LMs that perform MLM task aim to identify contextually appropriate words, and in a queer context, it is plausible that many words are classified as "Homosexuality".

Another notable pattern relates to the levels of harmfulness and toxicity observed in predictions based on the models' parameters.



Figure 5.11: The image shows the results of the HurtLex test obtained by all models' predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having terms as subject. The bar in the graphs presents each HurtLex category (as explained in Section 4.3.2), while the line in the graph illustrates the trend of results for the two subject categories.

Examining the plotted lines, it's clear that they follow a similar trend, with the queer category consistently exhibiting slightly higher values, just a few percentage points above the other category.

Figure 5.11 displays the results of the HurtLex test obtained on predictions generated by all models. ALBERT and RoBERTa models exhibit lower levels of harmfulness in base models compared to their large counterparts. In the first case, the range falls between 0% and 5%, in the second case it extends from 10% to 22%.

However, this pattern doesn't hold for BERTweet models, which exhibit behaviour consistent with the results from HurtLex tests utilizing pronouns as subjects (refer to Paragraph 5.1.2). The model shows unusually high levels above 70%, with minimal peaks in the other BERTweet models hovering close to 0%.

The general trend of categories is maintained, except for RoBERTa mod-

els, where the sentences containing subjects categorized as non-queer are perceived as more discriminated against the ones with subjects categorized as queer. In all other models, sentences that contain queer subjects are assessed as more discriminated against, by about 5%, compared to the ones with a non-queer subject.

The most prevalent HurtLex classes here are "Homosexuality" followed by "Prostitution", with the exception of BERTweet models, which predominantly produced words classified in "Female Genitalia" class.

5.2.3 Perspective API

The analysis continues with the Perspective test (detailed in Section 4.3.3) examination of the prediction obtained by all the models.



Figure 5.12: The image shows the results of the Perspective test obtained by ALBERT models predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a pronoun as subject

Figure 5.12 illustrates the results obtained from Perspective tests on all

5. Experiments

predictions generated by the ALBERT models. It is evident that the base models identify the generated phrases as much less toxic compared to the large models, which exhibit scores higher than 20%. Regarding Perspective API's categories, the models generally maintain consistency with each other. Each model predominantly categorizes predictions under the classes of "Identity attack", "Insult", and "Toxicity", with a similar number of elements for each category across all models.



Figure 5.13: The image shows the results of the Perspective test obtained by all model's predictions (on both base and large models and evaluating on both top-1 and top-5 predictions) having a term as the subject. The bar in the graphs presents each Perspective API's category (as explained in Section 4.3.3), while the line in the graph illustrates the trend of results for the two subject categories.

Furthermore, the models indicate elevated levels of toxicity for sentences that have a queer term as the subject, showing a difference of approximately 5% across all models. The only exception is $ALBERT_{base}$ in top-1 prediction, which appears to generate predictions with comparable toxicity between "queer" and "non-queer" categories according to perspective standards.

The results of the Perspective test obtained by all models' predictions are shown in Figure 5.13. The data follows a predominantly linear pattern throughout the graph, with some variations. The most noticeable trend is associated with the models' parameters, indicating that large models consistently generate terminologies perceived as significantly more toxic by the Perspective tool compared to those produced by base models. Except BERTweet models, which align with the overall trend observed in other models but exhibit much lower toxicity statistics, consistently remaining below 10%.

All models generate words that Perspective API categorizes more densely under the classes "Identity attack", "Insult" and "Toxicity", while the other two classes are comparatively less frequent. Generally, the results highlight that sentences that contain a queer subject were assessed as more toxic by the Perspective tool than non-queer ones, with some exceptions such as $BERT_{base}$ in top-5 prediction and $RoBERTa_{large}$ models.

5.2.4 Intermediate results

This paragraph contains the intermediate outcomes relative to sentences with a term as the subject. The following findings are combined with those obtained with pronouns as subjects (discussed in Section 5.1.4). An $n \times m$ heat map is utilized to represent the data, where n is the number of assessed categories and m is the number of models.

The results, depicted in Figure 5.14, present a comprehensive overview of the scores achieved by various models generating sentences with subjects belonging to one of the two categories —queer and non-queer.

In the AFINN test, it's evident that scores across all models and categories are consistently low. No discernible imbalance or bias is apparent from these scores. On the contrary, the results from the other two tests reveal a distinct pattern. Large models consistently exhibit significantly higher (and therefore worse) scores compared to their base counterparts, with some cases showing up to a 30% difference. This trend is consistent across all templates except



for BERTweet.

Figure 5.14: The image shows the intermediate results of the three tests obtained by all model predictions related to the term category. The graph shows the results by highlighting the low values with a light colour and the high ones with a dark colour and the written values represent the percentages on the entire dataset.

Additionally, predictions derived from models featuring a queer subject in the sentence tended to score worse results than those with non-queer subjects in both the HurtLex and Perspective tests, reaching a 10% gap for some models. Notably, BERTweet displayed anomalous behaviour, consistently producing extremely low results in every test, never exceeding 7%, except for BERTweet_{base}, which yielded the worst results on the entire graph, reaching 74% harmfulness.

The outcomes of these results impact the QueerBench score, as discussed in Section 5.3. This score is derived by comparing the values obtained from sentences where a term serves as the subject to those where a pronoun serves as the subject, as previously explained in Section 5.1.4.

5.3 QueerBench

This section aims to present the overall results obtained from this research. Based on the differences among various models and their specifications, the goal is to determine whether, in the context of NLP, tools like MLM can be employed to detect imbalances and biases leading to discriminatory behaviour towards queer individuals, as well as assess the language and terminologies used within the community.

Specifically, QueerBench is a framework that, given a neutral linguistic context and precise terminologies relevant to both the queer and non-queer communities, evaluates whether language generated by LMs is harmful and toxic. This process, as explained in the preceding sections, involves the use of tools to collect the words predicted by the models and assess them.

From the assessments, the obtained results are presented in Table 5.1, which contains the final outcomes from various tests across predefined categories. The results are discussed by dividing them based on the subject type, starting with sentences containing a pronoun as the subject.

As discussed in Section 5.1, the evaluated pronoun categories in these tests include neo-pronouns, neutral, and binary. Examining the overall evaluations across these three categories from various models, it is possible to observe that, in general, the scores are quite low, with the exception of BERTweet_{base}, which peaks at 29% in the top-5 predictions in all three pronouns categories. To fully understand the general results, several considerations must be taken into account. Large models tend to generate an higher number of words considered harmful and potentially lead to hate speech on all three pronouns categories. Furthermore, the top-1 and top-5 prediction tests show that the top-5 prediction models, in this case, have higher statistics with an average variation of approximately 5%.

5. Experiments

Model			Pronouns			Terms	
Name	N° Par.	N° Pred.	Neo	Neutral	Binary	Queer	Non Queer
ALBERT	base	1	1.7	2.5	2.6	4.8	4.6
		5	5.8	5.8	7.8	19.4	17.2
	large	1	2.7	2.3	3.0	3.6	3.0
		5	6.4	6.5	7.9	17.0	12.3
BERT	base	1	1.7	2.1	1.5	4.0	3.1
		5	6.8	5.8	7.2	12.6	11.8
	large	1	1.8	1.0	2.8	6.5	6.1
		5	9.0	6.0	8.2	16.8	15.22
RoBERTa	base	1	3.7	4.0	2.7	4.9	5.8
		5	8.5	9.3	9.5	18.4	18.9
	large	1	2.6	1.3	2.8	3.7	4.7
		5	7.5	4.6	5.8	16.4	18.3
BERTweet	base	1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.2
		5	<u>29.1</u>	<u>29.1</u>	<u>29.6</u>	<u>27.1</u>	<u>24.8</u>
	large	1	<u>0.0</u>	0.0	<u>0.0</u>	0.2	<u>0.1</u>
		5	0.2	0.0	0.0	1.7	1.1

Table 5.1: QueerBench score on each model.

Ultimately, the most fundamental consideration pertains to the outcome of our study on the use and understanding of pronouns by LMs. Comparing the results, it is possible to deduce that, in both top-1 and top-5 predictions, models generate more harmful words for sentences with binary pronouns as subjects, with an average of 2.7% for top-1 predictions and 9.5% for top-5 predictions. These results are closely followed by statistics for neutral and neo-pronouns, corresponding to an average of 1.7% for top-1 predictions and 9.1% for top-5 predictions with neo- and 8.3% neutral pronouns. The overall results shows approximately the 1% of imbalances in all categories. As a consequence, can be asserted that favoritism or bias in the levels of toxicity and harmfulness is not discernible across the three categories of pronouns. The sentences in which a term serves as the subject are now evaluated, noting that the terms fall into two categories: queer and non-queer. By examining the respective two rows in the table, some general observations about the trend of the data can be derived.

Firstly, as seen in individual tests and intermediate results (in Paragraph 5.2.4), it is clear that the results for top-5 predictions have significantly higher scores compared to those for top-1 predictions, with an approximately 13% increase in harmfulness. This is true for all models (both base and large). Similar to the results for pronouns, the BERTweet_{base} model stands out, reaching a peak of 27% in the queer category and 24% in the non-queer category for top-5 predictions.

Regarding an analysis of scores obtained by discriminating based on model size, the results are certainly more scattered, making the evaluation more challenging to discern. These scores vary depending on the chosen language model and the category under observation, making it difficult to identify a common trend among the results. For this reason, the averages of the values obtained for base and large models are calculated. Base models have higher average scores, with 11.4% harmfulness for queer subjects and 10.8% for non-queer subjects. There is a noticeable difference with large models, which show an average score of 8.2% harmfulness for queer subjects and 7.6% for non-queer subjects.

These results lead us to several final observations. Firstly, the disproportionately atypical score obtained in BERTweetbase significantly raises the average of these scores, making it challenging to make an accurate evaluation of the final results. Secondly, regarding the two categories, it is easy to notice that, in general, the results obtained for the queer category are higher than those for the non-queer category, up to 5% in the case of ALBERT*large* for top-5 predictions. The only exception is the RoBERTa model, which exhibits contrasting behaviour and, with a 2% margin, generates more discriminatory solutions for non-queer subjects. In the overall assessment, sentences with queer subjects exhibit an average harmfulness percentage of 16.9%, whereas sentences with non-queer subjects demonstrate an average harmfulness of 9.2%. Consequently, it can be asserted that the considered LMs contain bias and generate words that are perceived as more toxic and harmful when the subject in the sentence is a queer term.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

In this chapter, firstly, Section 6.1 delves into the possible reasons behind the results obtained from QueerBench across various models. There, insights and peripheral aspects related to the test and the various components utilized are analysed. Additionally, Section 6.2 explores how biases from LMs can be mitigated and identifies potential enhancements needed in this work. Lastly, Section 6.3 discusses broader improvements that could be made in the field of NLP and within the queer community.

6.1 Discussion

Drawing on the findings presented in Section 5.3, the following general considerations emerge. The discrepancies between the basic models and their larger counterparts are minimal, ranging from 1% to 3% in the case of both pronouns and terms, respectively.

This suggests that the primary distinguishing factor does not inherently reside in the models' parameters. Instead, it stems from the quantity of output words generated by the model. In fact, scores in the top-5 predictions are hovering around 5% higher in the pronouns case and 13% higher in the term case.

Several factors might contribute to this phenomenon. It's plausible that

a larger required word output prompts the model to generate a more diverse set of words. The increased diversity and ambiguity in the input data could elevate the likelihood of obtaining a lower score. Providing more data may not always lead to better outcomes when the model is evaluated on a limited number of examples and lacks diversity during training. In some cases, models trained on insufficient data can become biased towards the limited training environments, resulting in poorer performance on out-of-domain test data (Singhal et al. (2022); Cai et al. (2022)). Insufficient data can hinder the model's ability to generalize to different testing conditions, leading to inaccurate representations of the target class (Wad et al. (2022)). Alternatively, if the model's complexity during training is inadequate compared to the complexity of the data being provided, it might suffer from overfitting or underfitting (Rezaei and Sabokrou (2023)).

When it comes to the models, BERTweet_{base} represents both the best and worst performers based on QueerBench scores simultaneously. It is expected that sentences not only contain more offensive content concerning formal training resources but also that the model's training set contains more references to the terms we used to identify LGBTQIA+ and non-LGBTQIA+ individuals. Using tweets for training NLP has both advantages and disadvantages. On the positive side, tweets often contain authentic natural language expressions, allowing NLP models to learn from real-world language usage (Singh et al. (2022)). On the negative side, tweets may contain noise, misinformation, or incomplete sentences, which can affect the accuracy of NLP models trained on them (Dekker and van der Goot (2020)).

Finally, the language models examined in the tests exhibit a tendency to assess the three types of pronouns quite similarly. The average harmful score is 6.1% for sentences with a binary pronoun as the subject, 5.4% for those with a neo-pronoun as the subject, and 4.9% for those with a neutral pronoun as the subject. The latter exhibits slightly higher scores, with a gap of 1%. Additionally, sentences featuring queer terms as subjects are significantly more harmful than sentences with non-queer term subjects, reaching

a difference gap of 7.2%.

In our final consideration, we have evaluated the potential harm arising from sentence completions generated by LLMs in relation to LGBTQIA+ individuals. To address this, we introduced a new lexicon that includes pronouns and terms relevant to LGBTQIA+, along with a template-based assessment methodology. This methodology is grounded in a neutral sentence dataset, enabling us to conduct MLM tasks effectively. We established the QueerBench score using three assessment tools: AFINN, HurtLex, and Perspective API. The results of these tests affirm our thesis, indicating that large language models tend to exhibit discriminatory behaviour more frequently towards individuals within the LGBTQIA+ community. This bias is particularly evident in the specific language used within that community, as opposed to non-queer-related language and identities.

6.2 Mitigation

A language that is developed in the real world reflects sociocultural presuppositions and assumptions that language models can magnify and overfit, which can result in a range of negative effects, including discrimination (Bar-Tal et al. (2013); Zhao et al. (2017b); Sun et al. (2019)). This underscores the critical importance of understanding how language models interact with and perpetuate biases in the data they are trained on. The increased harm observed in sentences with queer subjects emphasizes the need for proactive measures in addressing bias and fostering inclusivity within language models.

Recognizing that language models acquire knowledge from the data they encounter during training, the importance of investing in ethical and inclusive datasets becomes apparent to ensure fair and equitable outcomes. The intricate nature of biases in language models raises ethical concerns regarding their application in real-world scenarios. This underscores the need for researchers and developers to contemplate their responsibility, and implement safeguards and mitigation strategies. Vásquez et al. (2023) delves into how

various factors, including data quality, model architecture, decoding methods, and evaluation techniques, can collectively contribute to biased models. These measures are essential to ensure the ethical use of technology, preventing the perpetuation of harmful stereotypes and discrimination (Pournaras (2023); Lin et al. (2023)).

In the pursuit of fairness, it's really important to use data that is not biased when training and testing the model. Biases or underrepresentation of certain groups in the data used for training learning models can result in skewed outcomes during model usage. To foster dataset fairness, it is imperative to identify and address these biases (Hinnefeld et al. (2018)). This involves the development of more diverse and inclusive training data, employing techniques such as debiasing algorithms, and conducting post hoc analyses to identify and rectify biases in language models (Le Quy et al. (2022)).

In addressing potential harms in language models, Kumar et al. (2022) provides valuable insights through a comprehensive survey, focusing on language generation models. They explore various mitigation strategies, emphasizing two model-level interventions applicable to our model: the training and finetuning phases.

During the training phase, the importance of using Class-conditioned language models is underscored. These models, relying on "control codes" through an additional input, can be trained with annotated data for toxicity or bias, prompting them to avoid generating harmful outputs (Wei et al. (2021); Chan et al. (2020); Gururangan et al. (2020)).

In the finetuning phase, a resource-efficient alternative is proposed, involving the adjustment of parameters in already-trained language models. This adjustment is applied to a subset of parameters using small, curated datasets with a balanced demographic representation and filtered for nontoxicity (Gururangan et al. (2020); Chan et al. (2020); Liu et al. (2023)).

Contrastingly, Lialin et al. (2022) discusses how model properties are not predictive of model performance. Testing on the oLMpics benchmark (Tal-

mor et al. (2020)) with various model families (such as BERT (Devlin et al. (2018)), RoBERTa (Liu et al. (2019)), DistilBERT (Sanh et al. (2019)), AL-BERT (Lan et al. (2019)), GPT-2 (Radford et al. (2019)) and others), their study reveals that model performance depends not on the number of parameters or pre-training approach but on optimization or masking strategy. Considering the intertwining of language, identity, and society, aggressive data filtering methods risk exacerbating imbalances. Models trained on filtered data may still degrade when exposed to toxic inputs.

Understanding these factors is essential for developing strategies to mitigate bias and promote fair and equitable use of language models. Unfortunately, the challenges in achieving fairness extend not only to language models and their training data but also to the data themselves and the evaluation tools.

Addressing the detoxification of the training dataset is a complex undertaking, presenting challenges not only in general but particularly when considering the queer community. Notably, Locatelli et al. (2023) draws attention to the shortage of annotated data in the domain of homotransphobic detection. Additionally, Chakravarthi et al. (2021); Carvalho et al. (2022); Nozza et al. (2022c) emphasize the persistent negative bias exhibited by NLP models towards LGBTQIA+ individuals. An illustrative example from Excell and Moubayed (2021) underscores the impact of annotator demographics on model performance. Specifically, their findings reveal that using exclusively male annotators for a dataset of toxic comments yields weaker results compared to using exclusively female annotators. This underscores the importance of diverse perspectives in the annotation process. Offering a potential avenue for improvement, Felkner et al. (2023) hypothesizes that training NLP models on linguistic data generated by members of a minority community may lead to less biased outputs towards that community. This proposition suggests a promising strategy for mitigating biases in language models by incorporating a more diverse range of contributors to the linguistic data.

However, relying solely on annotated data or employing standard detoxifying techniques proves inadequate for ensuring evaluation quality, as these approaches can introduce bias. As pointed out by Xu et al. (2021), the application of standard detoxifying techniques may disproportionately impact text generated from minority communities. For example, the model might erroneously label common identity mentions such as "gay" or "Muslim" as toxic, reflecting learned associations (Vásquez et al. (2023)). This issue was encountered in our use of the HurtLex tool. In the domain of identities and sexuality, specifically within the queer environment, it is unsurprising that the words generated by language models were classified as

Homosexuality and consequently evaluated negatively. Moreover, Dixon et al. (2018) measured biases in the Google Perspective API classifier, which was trained on data from Wikipedia talk comments. Their findings revealed a tendency to assign high toxicity scores to innocuous statements like "I am a gay man", categorizing it as a "false positive bias". Attanasio et al. (2022a) demonstrates that neural hate speech detection models are significantly influenced by identity terms, and this bias arises from overgeneralization based on training data, especially when terms like "gay" are viewed deprecatively in a homophobic society.

Lastly, Seshadri et al. (2022) highlight considerable variations in bias values and resulting conclusions across template modifications on four tasks, ranging from an 81% reduction (NLI) to a 162% increase (MLM) in (task-specific) bias measurements. Their results suggest that quantifying fairness in LLMs, as done in current practice, can be brittle and needs to be approached with more care and caution.

6.3 Future Works

In considering future developments for the continuation of this project, we hope for an increased availability of annotated data to serve as valuable resources. This would facilitate a more in-depth exploration of matters re-

lated to the LGBTQIA+ community and contribute to the creation of text corpora that are as fair, equitable, and inclusive as possible. Furthermore, we extend an invitation to members of the community to take the lead in contributing to the development and production of annotated data.

This collaborative effort is crucial for developing tools that not only effectively mitigate hate speech, harm, and toxicity in language models but also contribute to the creation of more equitable datasets for LM training.

An additional avenue to enhance this work involves training language models on a text corpus that has undergone debiasing. Even more impactful would be utilizing a corpus generated by individuals within the community, ensuring it contains language and expressions that respectfully refer to queer people.

Furthermore, a potential improvement lies in adopting diverse evaluation tools capable of identifying non-explicit hate speech and bias. These tools should be specifically tailored to address issues within the queer community or, ideally, conduct intersectional evaluations. This approach ensures a nuanced assessment, avoiding instances where, unlike in the present scenario, words such as "homosexual" are not mistakenly evaluated as negative

In conclusion, it is crucial to emphasize that the underlying goal of these considerations is to promote a society that is visible and inclusive, allowing space for all perspectives. As we move forward, we aspire to foster an environment where contributions from diverse voices actively shape the discourse surrounding the LGBTQIA+ community.

Bibliography

- Ayat Abedalla, Malak Abdullah, Mahmoud Al-Ayyoub, and Elhadj Benkhelifa. 2021. Chest x-ray pneumothorax segmentation using u-net with efficientnet and resnet architectures. *PeerJ Computer Science*, 7:e607.
- Abubakar Abid, Maheen Farooqi, and James Zou. 2021. Persistent antimuslim bias in large language models. In Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, pages 298–306.
- Lauren M Ackerman. 2019. Syntactic and cognitive issues in investigating gendered coreference. *Glossa*.
- Victoria Adkins, Ellie Masters, Daniel Shumer, and Ellen Selkie. 2018. Exploring transgender adolescents' use of social media for support and health information seeking. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(2):S44.
- Mukul Anand and R Eswari. 2019. Classification of abusive comments in social media using deep learning. In 2019 3rd international conference on computing methodologies and communication (ICCMC), pages 974–977. IEEE.
- Nsrin Ashraf, Mohamed Taha, Ahmed Abd Elfattah, and Hamada Nayel. 2022. NAYEL @LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/transphobia detection for equality, diversity, and inclusion using SVM. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 287–290, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Dirk Hovy, and Elena Baralis. 2022a. Entropy-based attention regularization frees unintended bias mitigation from lists. arXiv preprint arXiv:2203.09192.
- Giuseppe Attanasio, Debora Nozza, Eliana Pastor, Dirk Hovy, et al. 2022b. Benchmarking post-hoc interpretability approaches for transformer-based misogyny detection. In *Proceedings of NLP Power! The First Workshop* on Efficient Benchmarking in NLP. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- April H Bailey, Marianne LaFrance, and John F Dovidio. 2019. Is man the measure of all things? a social cognitive account of androcentrism. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(4):307–331.
- Daniel Bar-Tal, Carl F Graumann, Arie W Kruglanski, and Wolfgang Stroebe. 2013. Stereotyping and prejudice: Changing conceptions. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Elisa Bassignana, Valerio Basile, Viviana Patti, et al. 2018. Hurtlex: A multilingual lexicon of words to hurt. In *CEUR Workshop proceedings*, volume 2253, pages 1–6. CEUR-WS.
- Emily M Bender, Timnit Gebru, Angelina McMillan-Major, and Shmargaret Shmitchell. 2021. On the dangers of stochastic parrots: Can language models be too big? In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM conference on fairness, accountability, and transparency, pages 610–623.
- Vitthal Bhandari and Poonam Goyal. 2022. bitsa_nlp@lt-edi-acl2022: Leveraging pretrained language models for detecting homophobia and transphobia in social media comments. arXiv preprint arXiv:2203.14267.
- Christopher M Bishop. 1995. Neural networks for pattern recognition. Oxford university press.
- Bronwyn M Bjorkman. 2017. Singular they and the syntactic representation of gender in english. *Glossa: a journal of general linguistics*, 2(1).

- Su Lin Blodgett, Solon Barocas, Hal Daumé III, and Hanna Wallach. 2020. Language (technology) is power: A critical survey of "bias" in NLP. In Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 5454–5476, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Marcus N Boon, Hans-Christian Ruiz Euler, Tao Chen, Bram van de Ven, Unai Alegre Ibarra, Peter A Bobbert, and Wilfred G van der Wiel. 2021. Gradient descent in materio. arXiv preprint arXiv:2105.11233.
- Rodrigo Borba. 2015. Linguística queer: uma perspectiva pós-identitária para os estudos da linguagem. *Revista Entrelinhas*, 9(1):91–107.
- Luke Breitfeller, Emily Ahn, David Jurgens, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2019. Finding microaggressions in the wild: A case for locating elusive phenomena in social media posts. In Proceedings of the 2019 conference on empirical methods in natural language processing and the 9th international joint conference on natural language processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP), pages 1664– 1674.
- Paolo Massimo Buscema, Giulia Massini, Marco Breda, Weldon A Lodwick, Francis Newman, Masoud Asadi-Zeydabadi, Paolo Massimo Buscema, Giulia Massini, Marco Breda, Weldon A Lodwick, et al. 2018. Artificial neural networks. Artificial Adaptive Systems Using Auto Contractive Maps: Theory, Applications and Extensions, pages 11–35.
- Judith Butler. 1990. Gender Trouble. Routledge.
- William Cai, Ro Encarnacion, Bobbie Chern, Sam Corbett-Davies, Miranda Bogen, Stevie Bergman, and Sharad Goel. 2022. Adaptive sampling strategies to construct equitable training datasets. In *Proceedings of the 2022* ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 1467–1478.

- Government Of Canada. 2023. Choose or update the gender identifier on your passport or travel document. https://www.canada. ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/services/ canadian-passports/change-sex.html#.
- Yang Trista Cao and Hal Daumé III. 2019. Toward gender-inclusive coreference resolution. arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.13913.
- Antonia Caruso. 2022. LGBTQIA+. Eris.
- Paula Carvalho, Bernardo Cunha, Raquel Santos, Fernando Batista, and Ricardo Ribeiro. 2022. Hate speech dynamics against african descent, roma and lgbtqi communities in portugal. In *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*, pages 2362–2370.
- Tomasso Caselli, Nicole Novielli, Viviana Patti, and Paolo Rosso. 2018. Sixth evaluation campaign of natural language processing and speech tools for italian: Final workshop (evalita 2018). In *EVALITA 2018*. CEUR Workshop Proceedings (CEUR-WS. org).
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Thenmozhi Durairaj, John Philip McCrae, Paul Buitelaar, Prasanna Kumaresan, and Rahul Ponnusamy. 2022. Overview of the shared task on homophobia and transphobia detection in social media comments. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, pages 369–377.
- Bharathi Raja Chakravarthi, Ruba Priyadharshini, Rahul Ponnusamy, Prasanna Kumar Kumaresan, Kayalvizhi Sampath, Durairaj Thenmozhi, Sathiyaraj Thangasamy, Rajendran Nallathambi, and John Phillip Mc-Crae. 2021. Dataset for identification of homophobia and transophobia in multilingual youtube comments. arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00227.

Alvin Chan, Yew-Soon Ong, Bill Pung, Aston Zhang, and Jie Fu. 2020.

Cocon: A self-supervised approach for controlled text generation. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:2006.03535.

- Mudit Chaudhary, Chandni Saxena, and Helen Meng. 2021. Countering online hate speech: An nlp perspective. arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.02941.
- Kyunghyun Cho, Bart Van Merriënboer, Caglar Gulcehre, Dzmitry Bahdanau, Fethi Bougares, Holger Schwenk, and Yoshua Bengio. 2014. Learning phrase representations using rnn encoder-decoder for statistical machine translation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1406.1078.
- Arijit Ghosh Chowdhury, Aniket Didolkar, Ramit Sawhney, and Rajiv Shah. 2019. Arhnet-leveraging community interaction for detection of religious hate speech in arabic. In *Proceedings of the 57th annual meeting of the* association for computational linguistics: student research workshop, pages 273–280.
- Tommy Clausner and Stefano Gentili. 2022. Auto-regressive rank order similarity (aros) test. *BioRxiv*, pages 2022–06.
- Kirby Conrod. 2019. Pronouns Raising and Emerging. University of Washington. Ph.D. thesis, PhD dissertation.
- Marta R Costa-jussà, Christian Hardmeier, Will Radford, and Kellie Webster, editors. 2020. Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing.
- Kimberle Crenshaw. 1995. Mapping thens margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color.
- Kimberlé W Crenshaw. 2017. On intersectionality: Essential writings. The New Press.
- Daren Croxford, Sharjeel Saeed, and Sean Tristram LeGuay Ellis. 2020. Processing input data in a convolutional neural network. US Patent 10,853,694.

- Jenna Cryan, Shiliang Tang, Xinyi Zhang, Miriam Metzger, Haitao Zheng, and Ben Y. Zhao. 2020. Detecting gender stereotypes: Lexicon vs. supervised learning methods. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '20, page 1–11, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery.
- Paula Czarnowska, Yogarshi Vyas, and Kashif Shah. 2021. Quantifying social biases in nlp: A generalization and empirical comparison of extrinsic fairness metrics. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 9:1249–1267.
- Alexander M Czopp, Aaron C Kay, and Sapna Cheryan. 2015. Positive stereotypes are pervasive and powerful. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10(4):451–463.
- Robert Dale. 2021. Gpt-3: What's it good for? Natural Language Engineering, 27(1):113–118.
- Thomas Davidson, Debasmita Bhattacharya, and Ingmar Weber. 2019. Racial bias in hate speech and abusive language detection datasets. In Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Abusive Language Online, pages 25–35, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Sharyn Davies. 2007. Challenging gender norms: Five genders among Bugis in Indonesia. Gale Cengage.
- Kelly Dekker and Rob van der Goot. 2020. Synthetic data for english lexical normalization: How close can we get to manually annotated data? In Proceedings of the Twelfth Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, pages 6300–6309.
- Flor Miriam Plaza Del Arco, Debora Nozza, and Dirk Hovy. 2023. Respectful or toxic? using zero-shot learning with language models to detect hate speech. In *The 7th Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH)*, pages 60–68.

- Sunipa Dev, Masoud Monajatipoor, Anaelia Ovalle, Arjun Subramonian, Jeff M Phillips, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2021. Harms of gender exclusivity and challenges in non-binary representation in language technologies. arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.12084.
- Hannah Devinney, Jenny Björklund, and Henrik Björklund. 2022. Theories of "gender" in nlp bias research. In Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 2083–2102.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. 2018. Bert: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.04805.
- Lucas Dixon, John Li, Jeffrey Sorensen, Nithum Thain, and Lucy Vasserman. 2018. Measuring and mitigating unintended bias in text classification. In Proceedings of the 2018 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, pages 67–73.
- Enrico Angelo Emilia and Cristina Gaggiolib. 2017. Digital and inclusive environment/ambienti digitali inclusivi. *Form@ re*, 17(1):49–68.
- EqualDex. 2023. Legal recognition of non-binary gender. https://www.equaldex.com/issue/non-binary-gender-recognition.
- Elizabeth Excell and Noura Al Moubayed. 2021. Towards equal gender representation in the annotations of toxic language detection. *arXiv preprint* arXiv:2106.02183.
- Anne Fausto-Sterling. 2000. Sexing the body: Gender politics and the construction of sexuality. Basic books.
- Virginia K Felkner, Ho-Chun Herbert Chang, Eugene Jang, and Jonathan May. 2022. Towards winoqueer: Developing a benchmark for anti-queer bias in large language models. arXiv preprint arXiv:2206.11484.

- Virginia K Felkner, Ho-Chun Herbert Chang, Eugene Jang, and Jonathan May. 2023. Winoqueer: A community-in-the-loop benchmark for antilgbtq+ bias in large language models. arXiv preprint arXiv:2306.15087.
- Chollet Francois. 2018. Deep learning with python.
- Björn Gambäck and Utpal Kumar Sikdar. 2017. Using convolutional neural networks to classify hate-speech. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Abusive Language Online, pages 85–90, Vancouver, BC, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Disha Gangadia. 2021. Activation functions: Experimentation and comparison. In 2021 6th International Conference for Convergence in Technology (I2CT), pages 1–6. IEEE.
- Samuel Gehman, Suchin Gururangan, Maarten Sap, Yejin Choi, and Noah A Smith. 2020. Realtoxicityprompts: Evaluating neural toxic degeneration in language models. arXiv preprint arXiv:2009.11462.
- Sohom Ghosh and Dwight Gunning. 2019. Natural language processing fundamentals: build intelligent applications that can interpret the human language to deliver impactful results. Packt Publishing Ltd.
- Ian Goodfellow, Yoshua Bengio, and Aaron Courville. 2016. Deep feedforward networks. *Deep learning*.
- Alex Graves. 2013. Generating sequences with recurrent neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:1308.0850.
- Ella Guest, Bertie Vidgen, Alexandros Mittos, Nishanth Sastry, Gareth Tyson, and Helen Margetts. 2021. An expert annotated dataset for the detection of online misogyny. In Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume, pages 1336–1350.

- Suchin Gururangan, Ana Marasović, Swabha Swayamdipta, Kyle Lo, Iz Beltagy, Doug Downey, and Noah A Smith. 2020. Don't stop pretraining: Adapt language models to domains and tasks. arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.10964.
- Richard HR Hahnloser, Rahul Sarpeshkar, Misha A Mahowald, Rodney J Douglas, and H Sebastian Seung. 2000. Digital selection and analogue amplification coexist in a cortex-inspired silicon circuit. *nature*, 405(6789):947–951.
- Xi Han, Wenting Han, Jiabin Qu, Bei Li, and Qinghua Zhu. 2019. What happens online stays online?——social media dependency, online support behavior and offline effects for lgbt. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 93:91– 98.
- Wenrui Hao. 2021. A gradient descent method for solving a system of nonlinear equations. Applied Mathematics Letters, 112:106739.
- Gabriela Nathania Harywanto, Juan Sebastian Veron, and Derwin Suhartono. 2022. A bertweet-based design for monitoring behaviour change based on five doors theory on coral bleaching campaign. *Journal of big Data*, 9(1):1–22.
- Simon Haykin. 1998. Neural networks: a comprehensive foundation. Prentice Hall PTR.
- National Institutes of Health Sexual & Gender Minority Research Office National Institutes of Health. 2020. The importance of gender pronouns & their use in workplace communicahttps://dpcpsi.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ tions. NIH-Draft-Guidance-on-Pronouns-Usage-PUBLIC-Final-v3-508. pdf.
- J Henry Hinnefeld, Peter Cooman, Nat Mammo, and Rupert Deese. 2018.

Evaluating fairness metrics in the presence of dataset bias. *arXiv preprint* arXiv:1809.09245.

- Andrew Hoang, Antoine Bosselut, Asli Celikyilmaz, and Yejin Choi. 2019. Efficient adaptation of pretrained transformers for abstractive summarization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.00138.
- Adnan Hossain. 2017. The paradox of recognition: hijra, third gender and sexual rights in bangladesh. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 19(12):1418–1431.
- Tamanna Hossain, Sunipa Dev, and Sameer Singh. 2023. Misgendered: Limits of large language models in understanding pronouns. arXiv preprint arXiv:2306.03950.
- Ruofei Hu, Binren Tian, Shouyi Yin, and Shaojun Wei. 2018. Efficient hardware architecture of softmax layer in deep neural network. In 2018 IEEE 23rd International Conference on Digital Signal Processing (DSP), pages 1–5. IEEE.
- Framing Intersectionality. 2011. Debates on a multi-faceted concept in gender studies, by helmalutz, maria teresa herrera vivar y linda supik. *Farnham:* Ashgate, pages 133–38.
- Sue-Ellen Jacobs, Wesley Thomas, and Sabine Lang. 1997. Two-spirit people: Native American gender identity, sexuality, and spirituality. University of Illinois Press.
- Pratik Joshi, Sebastin Santy, Amar Budhiraja, Kalika Bali, and Monojit Choudhury. 2020. The state and fate of linguistic diversity and inclusion in the nlp world. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.09095*.
- Masahiro Kaneko and Danushka Bollegala. 2019. Gender-preserving debiasing for pre-trained word embeddings. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.00742*.
- Andrej Karpathy. 2017. Convolutional neural networks. Capturado em: http://cs231n. github. io/convolutional-networks, pages 05–10.

- Sota Kato and Kazuhiro Hotta. 2021. Mse loss with outlying label for imbalanced classification. arXiv preprint arXiv:2107.02393.
- John D Kelleher. 2019. Deep learning. MIT press.
- Os Keyes. 2018. The misgendering machines: Trans/hci implications of automatic gender recognition. *Proceedings of the ACM on human-computer interaction*, 2(CSCW):1–22.
- Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif M Mohammad. 2018. Examining gender and race bias in two hundred sentiment analysis systems. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1805.04508*.
- Hannah Kirk, Wenjie Yin, Bertie Vidgen, and Paul Röttger. 2023. SemEval-2023 task 10: Explainable detection of online sexism. In Proceedings of the 17th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval-2023), pages 2193–2210, Toronto, Canada. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Karlfried Knapp, Gerd Antos, Marlis Hellinger, and Anne Pauwels. 2007. Handbook of language and communication: diversity and change. Mouton de Gruyter.
- Allison Koenecke, Andrew Nam, Emily Lake, Joe Nudell, Minnie Quartey, Zion Mengesha, Connor Toups, John R Rickford, Dan Jurafsky, and Sharad Goel. 2020. Racial disparities in automated speech recognition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(14):7684–7689.
- Lex Konnelly and Elizabeth Cowper. 2020. Gender diversity and morphosyntax: An account of singular they. *Glossa: a journal of general linguistics*, 5(1).
- Ajitesh Kumar. 2020. Mean squared error or r-squared, data analytics.
- Sachin Kumar, Vidhisha Balachandran, Lucille Njoo, Antonios Anastasopoulos, and Yulia Tsvetkov. 2022. Language generation models can cause
harm: So what can we do about it? an actionable survey. *arXiv preprint* arXiv:2210.07700.

- Klemens Lagler, Michael Schindelegger, Johannes Böhm, Hana Krásná, and Tobias Nilsson. 2013. Gpt2: Empirical slant delay model for radio space geodetic techniques. *Geophysical research letters*, 40(6):1069–1073.
- Zhenzhong Lan, Mingda Chen, Sebastian Goodman, Kevin Gimpel, Piyush Sharma, and Radu Soricut. 2019. Albert: A lite bert for self-supervised learning of language representations. arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.11942.
- Harri Lappalainen and Antti Honkela. 2000. Bayesian non-linear independent component analysis by multi-layer perceptrons. In Advances in independent component analysis, pages 93–121. Springer.
- Anne Lauscher, Archie Crowley, and Dirk Hovy. 2022. Welcome to the modern world of pronouns: Identity-inclusive natural language processing beyond gender. arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.11923.
- Jeannette Lawrence. 1993. Introduction to neural networks. California Scientific Software.
- Tai Le Quy, Arjun Roy, Vasileios Iosifidis, Wenbin Zhang, and Eirini Ntoutsi. 2022. A survey on datasets for fairness-aware machine learning. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 12(3):e1452.
- Mike Lewis, Yinhan Liu, Naman Goyal, Marjan Ghazvininejad, Abdelrahman Mohamed, Omer Levy, Ves Stoyanov, and Luke Zettlemoyer. 2019. Bart: Denoising sequence-to-sequence pre-training for natural language generation, translation, and comprehension. arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.13461.
- Vladislav Lialin, Kevin Zhao, Namrata Shivagunde, and Anna Rumshisky. 2022. Life after bert: What do other muppets understand about language? arXiv preprint arXiv:2205.10696.

- Baihan Lin, Djallel Bouneffouf, Guillermo Cecchi, and Kush R Varshney. 2023. Towards healthy ai: Large language models need therapists too. arXiv preprint arXiv:2304.00416.
- Fenglin Liu, Xuancheng Ren, Zhiyuan Zhang, Xu Sun, and Yuexian Zou. 2021. Rethinking skip connection with layer normalization in transformers and resnets. arXiv preprint arXiv:2105.07205.
- Pengfei Liu, Weizhe Yuan, Jinlan Fu, Zhengbao Jiang, Hiroaki Hayashi, and Graham Neubig. 2023. Pre-train, prompt, and predict: A systematic survey of prompting methods in natural language processing. ACM Computing Surveys, 55(9):1–35.
- Xiaodong Liu, Kevin Duh, Liyuan Liu, and Jianfeng Gao. 2020. Very deep transformers for neural machine translation. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.07772*.
- Yinhan Liu, Myle Ott, Naman Goyal, Jingfei Du, Mandar Joshi, Danqi Chen, Omer Levy, Mike Lewis, Luke Zettlemoyer, and Veselin Stoyanov. 2019. Roberta: A robustly optimized bert pretraining approach. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.11692.
- Davide Locatelli, Greta Damo, and Debora Nozza. 2023. A cross-lingual study of homotransphobia on twitter. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop* on Cross-Cultural Considerations in NLP (C3NLP), pages 16–24.
- Kyle Logue. 2023. Complex-valued radio signal loss for neural networks. In 2023 IEEE Aerospace Conference, pages 1–6. IEEE.
- Giulio Lovisotto, Nicole Finnie, Mauricio Munoz, Chaithanya Kumar Mummadi, and Jan Hendrik Metzen. 2022. Give me your attention: Dotproduct attention considered harmful for adversarial patch robustness. In Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 15234–15243.

- Elliott Macklovitch. 2001. The new paradigm in nlp and its impact on translation automation. In *Proceedings of the Symposium: The Impact of New Technology on Terminology Management.* Citeseer.
- Abulimiti Maimaitituoheti. 2022. ABLIMET @LT-EDI-ACL2022: A roberta based approach for homophobia/transphobia detection in social media. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 155–160, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Anqi Mao, Mehryar Mohri, and Yutao Zhong. 2023. Cross-entropy loss functions: Theoretical analysis and applications. arXiv preprint arXiv:2304.07288.
- Domagoj Marijanović, Emmanuel Karlo Nyarko, and Damir Filko. 2022. Wound detection by simple feedforward neural network. *Electronics*, 11(3):329.
- Erin R Markman. 2011. Gender identity disorder, the gender binary, and transgender oppression: Implications for ethical social work. *Smith College Studies in Social Work*, 81(4):314–327.
- Ryan C Martin, Kelsey Ryan Coyier, Leah M VanSistine, and Kelly L Schroeder. 2013. Anger on the internet: The perceived value of rant-sites. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 16(2):119–122.
- Elizabeth A McConnell, Antonia Clifford, Aaron K Korpak, Gregory Phillips II, and Michelle Birkett. 2017. Identity, victimization, and support: Facebook experiences and mental health among lgbtq youth. *Computers* in Human Behavior, 76:237–244.
- Sebastian McGaughey. 2020. Understanding neopronouns. The Gay & Lesbian Review Worldwide, 27(2):27–29.
- Ilan H Meyer and David M Frost. 2013. Minority stress and the health of sexual minorities. *American Psychological Association*.

- Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. 2021. StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models. In *Proceedings of the* 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 5356–5371, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R Bowman. 2020a. Crows-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.00133.
- Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. 2020b. CrowS-pairs: A challenge dataset for measuring social biases in masked language models. In *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, pages 1953–1967, Online. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Usman Naseem, Imran Razzak, Katarzyna Musial, and Muhammad Imran. 2020. Transformer based deep intelligent contextual embedding for twitter sentiment analysis. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 113:58–69.
- Dat Quoc Nguyen, Thanh Vu, and Anh Tuan Nguyen. 2020. Bertweet: A pre-trained language model for english tweets. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.10200*.
- George Areba Ngwacho. 2022. Utilization of digital technologies to enhance assessments, practices, and equity in inclusive education: The constraining factor. In *Handbook of Research on Digital-Based Assessment and Innovative Practices in Education*, pages 295–317. IGI Global.
- John T Nockleby, Leonard W Levy, Kenneth L Karst, and Dennis J Mahoney. 2000. Encyclopedia of the american constitution. *Detroit, MI: Macmillan Reference*, 3(2).

- Debora Nozza, Federcio Bianchi, Dirk Hovy, et al. 2022a. Pipelines for social bias testing of large language models. In Proceedings of BigScience Episode# 5-Workshop on Challenges & Perspectives in Creating Large Language Models. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza, Federico Bianchi, Anne Lauscher, Dirk Hovy, et al. 2022b. Measuring harmful sentence completion in language models for lgbtqia+ individuals. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Debora Nozza et al. 2022c. Nozza@ lt-edi-acl2022: Ensemble modeling for homophobia and transphobia detection. In *Proceedings of the Second Work*shop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Nedjma Ousidhoum, Zizheng Lin, Hongming Zhang, Yangqiu Song, and Dit-Yan Yeung. 2019. Multilingual and multi-aspect hate speech analysis. arXiv preprint arXiv:1908.11049.
- Nedjma Ousidhoum, Xinran Zhao, Tianqing Fang, Yangqiu Song, and Dit-Yan Yeung. 2021. Probing toxic content in large pre-trained language models. In Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers), pages 4262–4274.
- Ioannis Panopoulos, Sokratis Nikolaidis, Stylianos I Venieris, and Iakovos S Venieris. 2023. Exploring the performance and efficiency of transformer models for nlp on mobile devices. arXiv preprint arXiv:2306.11426.
- Ji Ho Park, Jamin Shin, and Pascale Fung. 2018. Reducing gender bias in abusive language detection. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2799–2804, Brussels, Belgium. Association for Computational Linguistics.

- Malvika Pillai, Ashley C Griffin, Clair A Kronk, and Terika McCall. 2023. Toward community-based natural language processing (cbnlp): Cocreating with communities. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 25:e48498.
- Kris Poasa. 1992. The samoan fa'afafine: One case study and discussion of transsexualism. Journal of psychology & human sexuality, 5(3):39–51.
- Evangelos Pournaras. 2023. Science in the era of chatgpt, large language models and generative al challenges for research ethics and how to respond. Beyond Quantity: Research with Subsymbolic AI, 6:275.
- Virginia Prince. 2005. Sex vs. gender. The international journal of transgenderism.
- Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, Ilya Sutskever, et al. 2019. Language models are unsupervised multitask learners. OpenAI blog, 1(8):9.
- Jack W Rae, Sebastian Borgeaud, Trevor Cai, Katie Millican, Jordan Hoffmann, Francis Song, John Aslanides, Sarah Henderson, Roman Ring, Susannah Young, et al. 2021. Scaling language models: Methods, analysis & insights from training gopher. arXiv preprint arXiv:2112.11446.
- Hossein Rezaei and Mohammad Sabokrou. 2023. Quantifying overfitting: Evaluating neural network performance through analysis of null space. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2305.19424*.
- Scott M Robeson and Cort J Willmott. 2023. Decomposition of the mean absolute error (mae) into systematic and unsystematic components. *Plos* one, 18(2):e0279774.
- Anna Rogers, Matt Gardner, and Isabelle Augenstein. 2023. Qa dataset explosion: A taxonomy of nlp resources for question answering and reading comprehension. ACM Computing Surveys, 55(10):1–45.

- Björn Ross, Michael Rist, Guillermo Carbonell, Benjamin Cabrera, Nils Kurowsky, and Michael Wojatzki. 2017. Measuring the reliability of hate speech annotations: The case of the european refugee crisis. arXiv preprint arXiv:1701.08118.
- Matthew Rowe, Milan Stankovic, Aba-Sah Dadzie, and Mariann Hardey. 2011. Proceedings of the eswc2011 workshop on'making sense of microposts': Big things come in small packages. *The Open University*.
- Sebastian Ruder. 2016. An overview of gradient descent optimization algorithms. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.04747*.
- Niloofar Safi Samghabadi, Parth Patwa, Srinivas PYKL, Prerana Mukherjee, Amitava Das, and Thamar Solorio. 2020. Aggression and misogyny detection using BERT: A multi-task approach. In *Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Trolling, Aggression and Cyberbullying*, pages 126–131, Marseille, France. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).
- Victor Sanh, Lysandre Debut, Julien Chaumond, and Thomas Wolf. 2019. Distilbert, a distilled version of bert: smaller, faster, cheaper and lighter. arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.01108.
- Maarten Sap, Dallas Card, Saadia Gabriel, Yejin Choi, and Noah A. Smith. 2019. The risk of racial bias in hate speech detection. In *Proceedings of* the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pages 1668–1678, Florence, Italy. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Ben Saunders, Necati Cihan Camgoz, and Richard Bowden. 2020. Progressive transformers for end-to-end sign language production. In Computer Vision-ECCV 2020: 16th European Conference, Glasgow, UK, August 23–28, 2020, Proceedings, Part XI 16, pages 687–705. Springer.

Anna Schmidt and Michael Wiegand. 2017. A survey on hate speech detection

using natural language processing. In Proceedings of the fifth international workshop on natural language processing for social media, pages 1–10.

- Preethi Seshadri, Pouya Pezeshkpour, and Sameer Singh. 2022. Quantifying social biases using templates is unreliable. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2210.04337*.
- Sagar Sharma, Simone Sharma, and Anidhya Athaiya. 2017. Activation functions in neural networks. *Towards Data Sci*, 6(12):310–316.
- Muskaan Singh and Petr Motlicek. 2022. IDIAP submission@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/transphobia detection in social media comments. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 356–361, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Smita Singh, Tanvi Jaiswal, Radhey Shyam, and Shilpi Khanna. 2022. Evaluation of tweet sentiments using nlp. In *International Symposium on Intelligent Informatics*, pages 225–238. Springer.
- Prasann Singhal, Jarad Forristal, Xi Ye, and Greg Durrett. 2022. Assessing out-of-domain language model performance from few examples. arXiv preprint arXiv:2210.06725.
- Sandy Putra Siregar and Anjar Wanto. 2017. Analysis of artificial neural network accuracy using backpropagation algorithm in predicting process (forecasting). *IJISTECH (International Journal of Information System and Technology)*, 1(1):34–42.
- Wiktor Soral, Michał Bilewicz, and Mikołaj Winiewski. 2018. Exposure to hate speech increases prejudice through desensitization. Aggressive behavior, 44(2):136–146.
- Michael Spivak. 1990. The Joy of TeX {}, a Gourmet Guide to Typesetting with the AmSTeX {} Macro Package: A Gourmet Guide to Typesetting with the AMS-TEX Macro Package. American Mathematical Soc.

- Mathangi Sri and Mathangi Sri. 2021. Nlp in virtual assistants. Practical Natural Language Processing with Python: With Case Studies from Industries Using Text Data at Scale, pages 185–247.
- MacKenzie Stewart, Hee jin Ryu, Ezra Blaque, Abdishakur Awil Hassan, Praney Anand, Oralia Gómez-Ramírez, Kinnon Ross MacKinnon, Catherine Worthington, Mark Gilbert, and Daniel Grace. 2022. Cisnormativity as a structural barrier to sti testing for trans masculine, two-spirit, and non-binary people who are gay, bisexual, or have sex with men. *PLOS ONE*.
- Tony Sun, Andrew Gaut, Shirlyn Tang, Yuxin Huang, Mai ElSherief, Jieyu Zhao, Diba Mirza, Elizabeth Belding, Kai-Wei Chang, and William Yang Wang. 2019. Mitigating gender bias in natural language processing: Literature review. arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.08976.
- Krithika Swaminathan, Bharathi B, Gayathri G L, and Hrishik Sampath. 2022. SSNCSE_NLP@LT-EDI-ACL2022: Homophobia/transphobia detection in multiple languages using SVM classifiers and BERT-based transformers. In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Language Technology for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, pages 239–244, Dublin, Ireland. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Alon Talmor, Yanai Elazar, Yoav Goldberg, and Jonathan Berant. 2020. olmpics-on what language model pre-training captures. Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 8:743–758.
- Kyle KH Tan, Gareth J Treharne, Sonja J Ellis, Johanna M Schmidt, and Jaimie F Veale. 2019. Gender minority stress: A critical review. *Journal* of homosexuality.
- Lewis Tunstall, Leandro Von Werra, and Thomas Wolf. 2022. Natural language processing with transformers. " OŔeilly Media, Inc.".

- Lev V Utkin, Andrei V Konstantinov, and Stanislav R Kirpichenko. 2023. Attention and self-attention in random forests. Progress in Artificial Intelligence, pages 1–17.
- Stanley R Vance Jr, Diane Ehrensaft, and Stephen M Rosenthal. 2014. Psychological and medical care of gender nonconforming youth. *Pediatrics*, 134(6):1184–1192.
- Juan Vásquez, Scott Andersen, Gemma Bel-Enguix, Helena Gómez-Adorno, and Sergio-Luis Ojeda-Trueba. 2023. Homo-mex: A mexican spanish annotated corpus for lgbt+ phobia detection on twitter. In *The 7th Workshop* on Online Abuse and Harms (WOAH), pages 202–214.
- Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Łukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. 2017. Attention is all you need. Advances in neural information processing systems, 30.
- Tan Wad, Qianru Sun, Sugiri Pranata, Karlekar Jayashree, and Hanwang Zhang. 2022. Equivariance and invariance inductive bias for learning from insufficient data. In *European Conference on Computer Vision*, pages 241– 258. Springer.
- Alex Wang, Amanpreet Singh, Julian Michael, Felix Hill, Omer Levy, and Samuel R Bowman. 2018. Glue: A multi-task benchmark and analysis platform for natural language understanding. arXiv preprint arXiv:1804.07461.
- Zeerak Waseem and Dirk Hovy. 2016. Hateful symbols or hateful people? predictive features for hate speech detection on twitter. In *Proceedings of* the NAACL student research workshop, pages 88–93.
- Sampada S Wazalwar and Urmila Shrawankar. 2017. Interpretation of sign language into english using nlp techniques. Journal of Information and Optimization Sciences, 38(6):895–910.

- Jason Wei, Maarten Bosma, Vincent Y Zhao, Kelvin Guu, Adams Wei Yu, Brian Lester, Nan Du, Andrew M Dai, and Quoc V Le. 2021. Finetuned language models are zero-shot learners. arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.01652.
- Laura Weidinger, Jonathan Uesato, Maribeth Rauh, Conor Griffin, Po-Sen Huang, John Mellor, Amelia Glaese, Myra Cheng, Borja Balle, Atoosa Kasirzadeh, et al. 2022. Taxonomy of risks posed by language models. In Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, pages 214–229.
- Genta Indra Winata, Andrea Madotto, Zhaojiang Lin, Rosanne Liu, Jason Yosinski, and Pascale Fung. 2021. Language models are few-shot multilingual learners. arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.07684.
- Thomas Wolf, Lysandre Debut, Victor Sanh, Julien Chaumond, Clement Delangue, Anthony Moi, Pierric Cistac, Tim Rault, Rémi Louf, Morgan Funtowicz, et al. 2019. Huggingface's transformers: State-of-the-art natural language processing. arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.03771.
- Michelle F Wright and Sebastian Wachs. 2021. Does empathy and toxic online disinhibition moderate the longitudinal association between witnessing and perpetrating homophobic cyberbullying? *International journal of bullying* prevention, 3:66–74.
- Albert Xu, Eshaan Pathak, Eric Wallace, Suchin Gururangan, Maarten Sap, and Dan Klein. 2021. Detoxifying language models risks marginalizing minority voices. arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.06390.
- Antonia Young. 1998. " sworn virgins": Cases of socially accepted gender change. Anthropology of East Europe Review, 16(1):59–75.
- Marcos Zampieri, Shervin Malmasi, Preslav Nakov, Sara Rosenthal, Noura Farra, and Ritesh Kumar. 2019. Predicting the type and target of offensive posts in social media. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1902.09666*.

- Adamantios Zaras, Nikolaos Passalis, and Anastasios Tefas. 2022. Neural networks and backpropagation. In *Deep Learning for Robot Perception* and Cognition, pages 17–34. Elsevier.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2017a. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. In Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, pages 2979–2989, Copenhagen, Denmark. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. 2017b. Men also like shopping: Reducing gender bias amplification using corpus-level constraints. arXiv preprint arXiv:1707.09457.
- Lal Zimman. 2017. Transgender language reform: Some challenges and strategies for promoting trans-affirming, gender-inclusive language. *Journal of Language and Discrimination*, 1(1):84–105.